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INTRODUCTION


Why the Diary(ah)?


Since what follows is a shit-load of text detailing the minutiae of my daily doings, I’ll forego the pages of pithy prose leading up to a retrospect and cut directly to the chase.


How the fuck did this happen?


Very simple: I’ve got a message board at one of our websites, www.viewaskew.com, that I’ve been actively back-and-forthing on since 1996. There, I’ve been engaged in a decade-long discussion with the folks who’ve paid for my house, my car, all my DVDs, and (quite probably) my wife: the audience for our pictures. For the last ten years, if you were adamant about tracking down the guy who cast the blight on contemporary American cinema known as “the Stink-Palm”, a quick web-search would lead you to what’s come to be known simply as “the board” — that magical system of ones and zeroes where you could ask the filmmaker in question what symbolism he intended with an ice hockey fight juxtaposed against a character’s interrogation of his paramour’s sexual history, and wind up with a half-answered query and a solicitation to purchase a t-shirt bearing said filmmaker’s face or an action figure molded in his likeness.


Then, one day in March of 2005, a poster (meaning someone who posts on the board) posited a question so stymieing, I had to step away from the computer and truly ponder what my response should be:


“What do you do all day?” they inquired.


It was a staggering inquiry — because I honestly didn’t know.


I mean, I had a vague idea of how my days were spent — and really, it was more of a vague idea of the results of my routines: still married, still a dad, still a filmmaker, still fat, still alive. But how did I reach these results, I wondered? What were all the exact steps that lead to the status quo, one more day above ground?


So rather than summon a sarcastic reply, I responded with a broad-stroked, moment-by-moment breakdown of that particular day. Question asked, question answered.


Sadly, the answer more than likely intrigued me more than it interested the inquisitor. I wasn’t so much taken aback by what had transpired during the fourteen hours or so I was awake, but instead by how... well, boring it all seemed. It was rote. It was an every-life, chock-a-block full of inane elements that bore no significant impression of an existence well-embraced. If God was in the details, then surely God didn’t exist; because no Supreme Being could suffer a creation of infinite promise who so often opted simply to lay on his bed and watch far too much television.


If all my days resembled the one I’d chronicled for that poster, then it was so dull that it demanded documentation. That way, upon my sure-to-be-premature death, when others would attempt to fill my daughter’s head with tales of how much her father had done and how far he’d gone in his brief life, she could read for herself, in his own words, how little her old man had actually accomplished. Rather than buy into the legend of the convenience store clerk who risked money he didn’t have via multiple credit cards he wasn’t qualified for, culminating in an early 90s indie flick success story and career he didn’t deserve, my daughter could read the cold truth about the shlub who begat her. My parting gift to my only child would be a full confession about how underwhelmingly human I ultimately was.


And so began the chronicles of My Boring-Ass Life — first as a series of entries on the board, and later at its own web locale — www.silentbobspeaks.com (and even later, at my MySpace page: www.myspace.com/therealkevinsmith). I was able to stick to the plan of an itinerary-style diary for a few good months before the experiment ultimately morphed into what it is now: a fucking blog like every other fucking blog, offering up unasked for opinions on any number of subjects. I’d hate myself for succumbing to a trend, were it not for the cool shit that came out of it in the process (namely the “Me and My Shadow” multi-parter that chronicled Jason Mewes’s battle with addiction).


Still, for the most part, it’ll serve its intended purpose: giving my kid a glimpse at a year (or so) in the life of her pater familias. And if it interests you at all, dear reader, then that’s just gravy. That is, if you can get through it.


’Cause, y’know — it’s kinda boring.


For those unfamiliar with my world, I’d like to offer up a quick reference glossary, so you’ll know who I’m talking about when I drop names you’re not savvy to.


Jen


This is my wife — she who holds my heart and dick.


Harley


This is my daughter. She just holds my heart.


Gail


This is Jen’s mom who lives with us and also acts as my assistant. Having your mother-in-law as your assistant means you’ll never chase your secretary around her desk.


Byron


Gail’s husband, Jen’s step-dad, who also lives with us. Without him and Gail, our lives (or lack thereof) as we know them wouldn’t be possible.


Mos


Scott Mosier, longtime friend and producer. Essentially, my first wife.


Jay


Jason Mewes — the thinner half of Jay and Silent Bob and my unofficial firstborn.


Bryan


Bryan Johnson, my oldest and dearest friend; also one of the funniest people I know. Born and raised in my hometown, Highlands, NJ.


Chay


Chay Carter, one of my wife’s dearest friends (as well as mine). Also Ben Affleck’s Gail.


Cookie


Alex Hilebronner Mosier, Scott’s one-time girlfriend and present wife. I call her Cookie because she’s a cook. I also once named a character Cock-Knocker because he punched people in the balls. I’m a simple man.


Malcolm


Malcolm Ingram, longtime (Canadian) friend, wing-man, and filmmaker. Director of the documentary Small Town Gay Bar.


Jackman


Jim Jackman, another Canuck compadre. Used to be a producer on Degrassi: The Next Generation.


Chappy


Bob Chapman, the guy who makes all the stuff that bears my graven image. Owns Graphitti Designs.


Gina


Gina Gozzi Chapman. Owns Bob. She and Chappy also used to run Jay and Silent Bob’s Secret Stash West.


Phil


Sometimes Phil Raskind (my über-agent), and sometimes another Phil I don’t have in my life anymore.


The other names that don’t pop up quite as frequently but might still require explanation of sorts:


Andy (McElfresh), my Tonight Show friend.


Xtian, the fella who used to be the moderator at the board.


Endless, his wife.


Gabrielle and Charlotte, their kids.


The House is in the Hollywood Hills.


The Office is either the home office (right off my bedroom), or the View Askew West office, a few blocks away.


The Store is either of the two Jay and Silent Bob’s Secret Stash retail emporiums: one in Red Bank, NJ, the other in Los Angeles, CA.


The Life is pretty boring-ass.







THE DIARY






Sunday 20 March 2005 @ 12:00 a.m.


21 March 1998: a much thinner, less bald Kevin Smith stands outside the Indie Spirit Awards tent on the Santa Monica beach, across from the Shutters Hotel. He’s waiting for his ‘date’: Jennifer Schwalbach, a comely lass he’d met only a month earlier when, in her role as the youngest journalist at USA Today, she’d interviewed him for a piece about the début of his Clerks comic book. The pair had hit it off well — so much so that when the interview proper ended, they’d talked for another two hours, completely off the record. Since that day, they’d spent a suspicious amount of hours emailing and logging phone time with one another while Smith conducted Pittsburgh-based rehearsals of his fourth film, Dogma, and Jennifer continued to pen articles for the world’s biggest newspaper.


This Spirits was the only awards ceremony that season which Schwalbach wasn’t scheduled to attend or cover for the paper, so Smith had suggested they hit the awards together, strictly as friends. He sighted the dubious point that he didn’t really know anybody out in LA when, in truth, he was supposed to attend those same Spirit Awards, extremely platonically, with awards presenter and Dogma co-star Salma Hayek. After pleading his case of cross-country puppy love to the Latina leading lady, Smith quickly dropped the on-screen muse like a hot rock the moment Schwalbach agreed to accompany him instead.


A miscommunication had the pair separated up ’til the start of the ceremony, with Smith waiting outside the tent, just off the red carpet, and Schwalbach — thanks to her press credentials — already inside. Figuring he’d been stood up by the prettiest girl he’d ever met, Smith was about to head inside to see if his previous flick, Chasing Amy, would fare as poorly as he seemingly had that afternoon. Then suddenly there at the entry to the tent, like an answer to a desperate man’s prayers, stood the angelic Schwalbach, smiling, waving Smith inside, beckoning him to the rest of his life.


As if the gods were conspiring to keep them apart, Smith didn’t get to spend much time with Schwalbach at the ceremony; he spent most of the day doing the press-room following his Best Screenplay win. At Spirits’ end, Schwalbach drove Smith to her apartment in her Cherry Red Jeep Grand Cherokee, only after Smith assured her it was solely to change out of his suit jacket and jeans into a more comfortable hoodie and shorts. He wasn’t, he promised her, making an attempt at any funny business; considering that he felt Schwalbach was altogether out of his league, why would he embarrass himself?


With half a day left before his flight back to Pittsburgh, Smith and Schwalbach spent hours chit-chatting over pizza bread sticks at Jerry’s on Beverly. As his departure time drew near, the duo opted to head back to Schwalbach’s Pointsettia apartment to run out the clock. There, the flirting shifted into heavy gear with Smith somehow convincing Schwalbach to lay her head, face-up, in his lap, so that he might play with her ears.


The rest, as they say, can be heard on An Evening With Kevin Smith.


Today’s the seventh anniversary of the first time Jen and I ever kissed and fucked. And fucked. And fucked. And fucked. And fucked.


This day, more than any other, is proof positive that one excellent lay can change your whole life forever.


Happy Anniversary, Babe.


Now take those fucking pjs off and let’s relive a fond memory.


But, y’know — without the heavy chafing.


Monday 21 March 2005 @ 12:06 p.m.


I get up and drop Harley off at school.


I pick up some McDonald’s hash browns, two-dozen roses, and both hot and iced lattes for Jen to celebrate the seventh anniversary of the first time we’d ever fucked.


When I get home, I log a post on the board about said anniversary.


I go through the morning email, while watching a series of TiVo’ed Simpsons, while Jen continues to organize the poetry reading fundraiser we’re hosting at the house for Harley’s school.


FedEx delivers a box of Silent Bob Speaks books, courtesy of Kristin Powers at Talk/Miramax Books. I peep ’em out and re-read the introduction.


An awesome two-hour session of afternoon delight with the wife.


We go back to email/board stuff/general bid-ness while The Pirates of Silicon Valley plays in the background.


Shower at around 2 p.m.


Head to the food store with Jen to pick up some barbecue fodder for dinner.


Drop into Harley’s school to watch the end of her karate class. Harley breaks a board. I start to fret that my kid can kick my ass.


Do a phoner with producer of NPR segment I’m to tape the next day, in which I interview Robert Rodriguez and Frank Miller about Sin City. We go over the points we want to make sure I hit during the chat.


I barbecue up burgers and chicken, while Byron handles the swordfish.


Family dinner. We’re joined by Chay Carter.


I head downstairs to watch some TV and read the board. In the process of doing so, I fall asleep at around 8 p.m.


Jen wakes me to go pick up Malcolm at the airport. Mewes and I make the trek out to LAX and pick up the Good Load himself.


On the drive home, we crack one another up with the outlandish premise built off Mewes’s meeting with Erin Gray (Wilma Deering from the Buck Rogers TV show) the previous day. Ms. Gray had generously invited Mewes to a ComiCon over in the UK in June. Mewes and I turn it into a what if scenario: what if Mewes gets there, only to discover that he’s to dress up as Twiki from Buck Rogers, in complete Twiki costume, minus a face-plate. For the three days, he’s expected to follow Ms. Gray around, doing his best Twiki impersonation, never mentioning that he’s Jason Mewes. Mewes ups the stakes by insisting I go as well, only to discover the Con’s insisting I hang off a chain around Mewes’s neck and play the role of Dr. Theopolis. We riff on this for the entire ride home.


Back home, me, Mewes, Malcolm and Jen sit around the living room and chat for a bit, before me and Jen turn in.


Tuesday 22 March 2005 @ 12:07 p.m.


I get up around 6 a.m. with a wicked piss-boner. Jen’s still sleeping, so there isn’t much I can do with it. Jerking off isn’t an option, as Harley’s taken to sleeping on our couch. Two months ago, in an odd turn of events, she deemed her room too spooky, and refused to sleep in it. To accommodate her, Jen gave her the choice of sleeping anywhere else in the house that made her feel secure, so long as it wasn’t Nan and Pop’s bed, Mom and Dad’s bed, or the couch in Mom and Dad’s bedroom suite. First, Harley test-drove the living room couch. Then, it was the library floor. And just as she was settling into the guest room, Mewes moved back in, thus negating the guest room as an option. Mewes offers to pay Harley for the use of her room (which is much bigger than the guest room), but Harley insists on keeping her bedroom as her “playroom”, while seeking a place to sleep elsewhere in the house. Somehow, that’s become the couch in Mom and Dad’s bedroom suite, which means Jen and I have lost a bit of the freedom we used to enjoy at night: Jen’s freedom to smoke in bed or on her couch, and my freedom to watch movies with the volume turned way up — not to mention the freedom to wake up and tug one out if I feel the need, prior to the Schwalbach midday special.


I make the dreaded morning climb up the stairs to let the dogs out on the patio, take a leak, then head to my office to check email and read the board.


Harley wakes up, then wakes Jen. I kiss her goodbye and Jen gets Harley ready for school. I continue to putter online.


Malcolm gets up and we all chit-chat in the bedroom for a while before heading out for breakfast at the Griddle. We check to see if Mewes is awake yet, but he’s still out cold (for the curious, Mewes tends to sleep in his clothes).


After breakfast, we speed home, and I jump in the shower. Following that, Malcolm and I head over to the NPR studio on Jefferson in Culver City.


On the drive, I talk with Matty, the producer from the Alice Morning Radio show, who’s gonna help me with a four-hour test-drive broadcast I’m gonna do in LA the second week of April, if everything works out.


We get to NPR where I meet up with Robert and segment producer Jim Wallace. Robert and I cram into a small recording booth while the techs get Frank Miller on the line from NYC.


Interview goes great. It’s about an hour long, and we cover the Sin City books, film, and ethos. Both Robert and Frank are articulate, eager speakers, so the hour flies by (Frank tells me I out-Catholiced him on my Daredevil run, which I find kind of funny). After we wrap, Jim tells me he’s now gotta somehow cut the piece down to eight minutes for NPR broadcast (the entire interview will run on NPR’s website shortly after the piece airs). I pick Robert’s brain about using Troublemaker’s Austin facilities for Ranger Danger (as always, he’s very accommodating and encouraging) and Malcolm and I head back to the house.


Jen, Malcolm and I sit around bullshitting for a while and re-heat some of the leftovers from last night. Jen’s off to the store to pick up some missing ingredients for a Bunny cake she’s making for Harley’s Fairy Tale Ball tomorrow in school, and Malcolm and I head to the Dome for a three o’clock tech scout with my Stash West partner in crime Bob Chapman, Q&A shooters Zack and Joey, and the Dome rep, Bob.


We tech scout the Dome with the very helpful Arclight folks, and figure out where folks are coming through, when the marquees are going up, what the schedule is gonna be, where the video projector will be stationed, the chairs for the various Q&As, etc., etc.


Malcolm and I head home in the pouring rain and find Mewes playing online poker. Based on the pouring rain, we opt out of the poker tourney at the Geisha House we were supposed to hit tonight at nine.


I find Jen upstairs slaving over the Bunny cake, then head down to the bathroom for a half hour shit/Nintendo DS session.


We order up some pizza and Jen and I settle into some TiVo.


Talk to Jeff on the phone for about a half hour, going over Vulgarthon and Clerks 2 stuff.


Call Dwight, too.


We put Harley to bed and head upstairs to the living room. We watch an episode of The Office with Malcolm before digging into a little Amongst Friends. Mewes joins us after a bit. Twenty minutes in, I start taking shit from everyone else for making them watch the flick. I must be high or something, because I still think the flick’s pretty watchable.


Jen and I head back downstairs and crash watching TiVo’ed Law & Orders.


Wednesday 23 March 2005 @ 12:07 p.m.


Fucking dogs wake me up again. This time I first take a leak in my bathroom (fuck them, I’m going first), then trudge up the stairs and let ’em out.


I hit the computer for a bit before Jen and Harley get up. When they wake, I’m rushed into the shower for a trip to Harley’s school. Since Jen’s got a facial at eleven, we take separate cars to the school. Malcolm and I are charged with safely delivering the Bunny cake.


It’s Fairy Tale Breakfast day in Harley’s class, which means that all the kids dress up like their favorite character and load up on eggs, sausages, donuts, cookies, juice, etc. Harley goes as Tinkerbelle. Me and Malcolm show up after Jen, and Byron and Gail follow us. Mewes wakes up late, yet still manages to get to the school in time to catch some costume action. Malcolm just about passes out when he sees Johnny Depp in the class. Depp’s there to peep out his ol’ lady and kid doing a reading of the classic Mulan fable (not the Disney version). Since he’s currently shooting those Pirates sequels back-to-back, the Deppster’s sporting silver-capped teeth beneath his facial scruff. He seems a little shy but very in love with his family. We exchange a very quiet “‘Sup”, as he heads off to his Valley-side set.


After an hour or so, we escape the Fairy Tale Breakfast, and Mewes, Malcolm, Jen and I grab some Griddle. Jen breaks away early to hit her appointment, and Malcolm and I head over to Laser Blazer on Pico to pick up this week’s new DVDs.


On the way back, I stop at the Sprint Store to pick up a new phone. Unlike my last trip to a Sprint Store, this time everyone’s pretty helpful, and we’re out of there in half an hour, phone in hand, complete with old number switched over and address book intact. Oddly, a guy who waited on me and Mewes in a Sprint Store back home in Eatontown now works at this Sprint Store out here. While I’m checking out, I’m chatted up by another Jersey relocator (this one from Wayne). Jersey represents big time, with three out of the ten people in the store hailing from the Motherland, which reminds me that I’m heading home next week. I take a pic with a non-Jersey guy who sped my order along, and we’re off.


We hit the office. I have a long convo with Phil and Mos about Panasonic, Final Cut Pro, Apple, and whether or not we wanna shoot Clerks 2 in digital.


I take a few minutes to talk to Devon at Newsweek about a possible Revenge of the Sith piece they might want me to pen, and then I hit the Avid and start digging back into Jersey Girl to pull together the longest cut of the movie I can for Vulgarthon. What I assume will take an hour winds up taking six. It’s a real walk down Memory Lane, as I’m seeing footage I haven’t seen in at least two years, so long ago was some of the stuff dropped from what would eventually become the movie.


Ten cases of the Silent Bob Speaks books show up at the office, and Mike lays them out for signing. Jen and Harley stop by on their way home from school to inform me that Harley took first place in her Karate class for an exercise in which she performs a series of moves (chaka, is it called?). Jen’s had a hardcore facial (not like that, you fucks...) that leaves her skin very sensitive, so much so that we stretch our lips out cartoonishly to kiss, so as not to have my beard scratch her.


Over the course of my editing day, Mos, Malcolm and Phil head off to other stuff, leaving me and Biggie Smalls to hold down the fort. I finally wrap up the rebuild and head home around 7:45 p.m. to drive Jen over the hill to a girl’s-night-out dinner with her friends.


Back home, I dig into some barbecue with Harley, Byron and Gail. Mewes shows up, and after I set Harley up in my bed with a new Dora DVD and the heat on, I head back upstairs where me and Mewes finally tackle a dining room table full of figures, comics, and posters that’ve been waiting for our signatures since before England. We listen to some King Diamond and talk about the flick he’s starting the day after V’thon — an indie flick called Bottoms Up, co-starring Paul Walker and Paris Hilton. Jay’s a little nervous, as he’s the lead, but feels that by day two or three, he’ll be settled into a groove. During a music change-up (from Black Metal to late eighties pop), I tell Jay the story of that summer of ‘89, when Bryan, Ed and I couldn’t get into a party to save our lives, even though we were non-troublemaking non-drinkers.


I head to my office (the one in the master bedroom suite) and check some email for a bit when I get the call from Jen to come pick her up. Back over the hill I go.


On the short ride home, Jen’s lamenting over how her face feels like it’s been sun-burned, courtesy of the deep facial. We hold hands and listen to some Dave Matthews’ ‘Crash Into Me’.


We move the out-cold Harley from our bed to the couch and pop on some TiVo. We skip the nookie, as her face is still hyper-sensitive, and we can’t kiss. Jen’s out within five minutes of hitting the bed (after a nearly-fruitless quest to find some ice to rub on her face). Locked out, Malcolm rings the door at around midnight. I let him in then head back upstairs and fall asleep to a TiVo’ed Law & Order.


Thursday 24 March 2005 @ 12:07 p.m.


Fucking Mulder and Scully. Today, they wake me up at 6:45 a.m. I take a leak, let the dogs out, and then head to my desk-top computer to play catch up with the board diary-thing.


Harley wakes up and joins me at my desk. We watch the Madagascar trailer a record eleven times in a row before she heads off to find Pop and breakfast.


I jump onto iChat and IM who I assume is Walt regarding the Silent Bob Speaks book, and having a bunch in stock for next week in the east coast Stash when I’m back there for the Count Basie gig. Turns out it’s not Walt but Mike Zapcik (Helpermonkey). We get 400 books ordered and I tell him that, post-Basie gig, I’ll come back to the store for a signing, if they feel like staying open. They’re down with it.


I’m still on iChat holding down convos with Ming, Helpermonkey and Joey (her appearance at Vulgarthon’s up in the air, as she may have to leave for Arkansas earlier than expected to start the flick she’s directing — which, as you might imagine, is quite the bummer), when I get an IM from Jon Gordon’s assistant Leslye about having lunch with Harvey Weinstein that afternoon. Suddenly, the balance of the day changes.


Jen wakes up and summons me and Gail upstairs for a family meeting regarding Easter. Turns out we’re having twenty people over for the early dinner, and Jen wants to go over the menu/figure out who’s coming exactly and what we need. Malcolm’s in attendance too, and he not only comes up with a helpful suggestion regarding feeding the masses Easter Sunday, but also volunteers to go pick up the near-pristine 35mm print of Chasing Amy I bought over the phone yesterday for the low, low price of less than five-hundred bucks. This will save me a trip to Palmdale.


Somebody posted on the board that, in his blog, Zach Braff reacted positively to my revelation in the press that I’d love to cast him as Fletch in Fletch Won. I forward Jon Gordon Zach’s reaction, and he gets me Zach’s number.


Gail moves up two phoners I’m supposed to do with McHenry area papers so that I can do the Harvey lunch. Both interviews are meant to pimp the Raue Theater screening. Both seemingly go well.


I jump in the shower, get dressed, and head to the office to pick up Mos for the lunch. As we jet across to Beverly Hills and meet with Jon Gordon (our friend and Miramax exec) and Harvey at Harvey’s hotel, I call Zach Braff’s cell. Surprisingly, he answers on the second ring. The convo goes something like this...


“Zach Braff?”


“Yes. Who’s this?”


“Kevin Smith.”


Beat.


“Kevin Smith?! No way!”


“Hello, sir.”


“This isn’t really Kevin Smith.”


“It is. And I’m charmed by the fact that you answer your phone, sir. Are you working on Scrubs at the moment?”


“I am. We’re between takes. Kevin Smith. This is awesome.”


“So can we get together and chat about Fletch Won?”


“So the rumors are true?”


“They are, sir.”


“Oh God, yes. I must have been really impressive in that PSA.”


“I told you then I enjoyed working with you. What’s your schedule look like?”


“I’m wrapping Scrubs on April 9th. After that, I’ll have more time to meet up and stuff.”


“So you wanna wait ‘til sometime after the ninth?”


“I do. But I need your address. I want you to come to my birthday party.”


“Right on. When is it?”


“Like April [DATE GIVEN].”


“I’ll definitely be in town.”


“Where can we send something?”


“Written invite or email.”


“Written.”


“Send it to [ADDRESS GIVEN].”


“Cool.”


“So you wanna wait ‘til sometime after April 9th to meet, right? Did my number come up on your cell.”


“It did.”


“Then just call that when you’re ready to hook up.”


“I will. They’re calling me to set right now.”


“Later, sir.”


“Bye.”


We get to the hotel and head upstairs with Jon to meet with the big man (or rather, not-so-big-man — Harvey’s lost a shitload of weight) in his suite. He opts to head downstairs for a lunch meeting with us instead.


We go over Clerks 2-related business (turns out The Passion of the Clerks will hold the honor of being the first film put into production at New Co., the temporary moniker of Miramax v.2), as well as Harvey’s feelings about Chapter Two of his epic career: the post-Disney Miramax v.2. He says he’s nervous and excited. I ask why he’s nervous and he says that it sucks to leave behind the 800-movie library and the name they spent two decades building. I say: “There’s more than enough time to build another 800-movie library and a new name — however, this time, make only the good movies.” To this, Harvey smiles and says, “Which means you’ll never make another movie again.” I love this man.


We talk about Zach Braff and Fletch Won (a combo Harvey loves) and then go over a list of possible Beckys (the female lead in Clerks 2). Harvey keeps pushing Amanda Peet who I agree is great but also know, in my heart, will never do this flick. I also think it’s better to go with an actress who’s less well known. We narrow the list down to a few names before Harvey gives me a peck on the top of the head and pimps off for another meeting. Scott, Jon and I sit around the restaurant for another forty-five minutes going over stuff and waxing rhapsodic about The Talented Mister Ripley before we have to head back to work.


At the office, Colleen Benn and Meredith Sachs from Universal Home Video are waiting to go over the Mallrats 10th DVD. I tell them I’ll be ready to deliver the re-cut of the movie by mid-April. Phil Benson joins us, and we all go over what will be included on this two-DVD set. Thus far, we’ve got all the contents of the OG DVD, as well as the re-cut, the new documentary (in which we’re gonna talk to everyone this time), the new commentary track, the 10th Anniversary Q&A we’re gonna round the cast up for and shoot at the Arclight (in the coming months; not at Vulgarthon), storyboards, every draft of the script, tons of press, possibly the MTV Première Party special — just a bunch of stuff to make the double-dip worth the price. Smalls loads them up with a box of press, tapes, artwork. I even unearth my production binder, which has all the multi-colored schedules, one-liners, and drafts of the flick, complete with notes I wrote in the margins. I’m so glad I’m such a pack-rat; I save everything. Colleen says the street date for Rats will probably be in mid-September. Phil and I push hard for them to do a Region 2, but these ladies have no control over that; that’s up to UPI — the overseas arm of Universal — and they’re mainly into releasing the blockbusters. So if you’re Region 2 and you want this new Rats DVD, best to start bugging UPI Home Video now.


During lunch, Jon Gordon reminded me of a shot from Jersey Girl that I’d forgotten to put back into the movie. I’d called Phil to ask him to slug it in. Now, Phil’s showing it to me. I futz with it a little bit (move the sound, shave off the back half of the shot and lay a fade on that motherfucker) and with that, lock the version of Jersey Girl we’ll be showing on Monday. It’s about two hours and twenty-five minutes long, and based on the patchwork nature of it we’ll be projecting a BetaCam copy onto the Dome screen that day. It won’t be as lush to look at as a film print, but it’ll get the job done.


From there, it’s over to Phil’s office for a brief tutorial on Final Cut Pro. I’ve never used FCP before (I’ve been an Avid guy since ‘96), so Phil hits me with the basics of removing chunks of media from a project, which is all I’ll need to hack into Oh, What a Lovely Tea Party.


Tea Party is just too long to show at Vulgarthon in its present running time of three hours and forty-five minutes. For home viewing, sure — a VA enthusiast can watch it in a sitting or start and stop the flick according to their schedule. But at the tail-end of a looooooooooooong day of watching movies, the far-from-’Snowball Effect’-tight/fly-on-the-wall-format of the nearly four-hour Tea Party might put motherfuckers to sleep. For that reason, and because we just don’t have enough time to fit the monster version into our already-packed ‘Thon schedule, Malcolm and I sit down and start the lugubrious task of finding an hour and forty-five minutes to hack out.


It turns out to be not as lugubrious as we thought. By midnight, we’ve tamed the beast into a hair over two hours without any really painful edits. Turns out there was a bunch of fat (mostly of behind-the-scenes angles of various scenes) that just slowly fell away like the pounds on Atkins. Midway through the cut, Malcolm and I are joined by Christian (Xtian to you folks) who is in town for Vulgarthon. Jen swings your beloved Mod, Endless and their two kids by the office before whisking the girls up to the house. The men are left to do the heavy lifting; the heavy lifting of sitting crammed behind a desk and pressing keys on a Mac keyboard.


We call it a night twenty minutes from the end of the doc, and head up to the house. Harley and Gabrielle are already out cold in Harley’s barn bed (a bunkbed shaped/designed to look like, you guessed it, a barn), so Team Case opts to leave her here for the night and Malcolm and I take the remnants of their broken family back to the hotel. We gas up the truck on the way home.


Jen’s out cold when I get home, so I jump online to check email. As I fall asleep in the process of doing so, I realize it’s time to call it a night. I fall asleep watching TiVo’ed Simpsons.


Friday 25 March 2005 @ 12:08 p.m.


The dogs play it cool — it’s the kids that wake my ass up at 7:30 a.m. Dressed in full princess regalia Harley and Gabrielle start banging on the door. Jen lets the dogs out, and I stumble to the bathroom with the computer to play catch-up with the diary-thing. I run out of battery juice in ten minutes, so I head back to the bedroom, sack out on the floor, and finish my entry.


Malcolm joins us (after being serenaded awake by Harley and Gabrielle doing their rendition of ‘Good Morning, to You’), and we decide to take the girls to breakfast at Jerry’s while Jen heads to the doctor’s. I shower and we’re off.


On the drive to Jerry’s, we call Xtian and Endless to see if they’re up for breakfast. They’ve already eaten, so me and Malcolm are on our own with the kids. I’d set my babysitting rate to be in line with my college-speaking rate, but Team Case’s eldest is one of those rare good kids, who’s low-maintenance and easy to be around (but, fuck does she love Sweet & Low).


After breakfast, we head over to the store so I can sign up the remaining 100 or so WizardWorld Kevin Smith exclusive figures (we sent a few cases back east for the Red Bank Stash so there’ll be some in stock post-Basie gig). Dave and I try to figure out what’s creating this nauseating buzz in one of the lights at the back of the store and ultimately figure it’s best left to an electrician. Malcolm keeps an eye on the kids while I re-stock the shelves and sign some bobble-heads and Strike Back figures. I buy two cases of Kevin figures for family and stuff, and we’re off.


Jen calls and asks me to pick up a gift for Harley’s friend whose birthday the girls are meant to attend that afternoon. We head across the street to Aaaah’s and pick up some SpongeBob and Wonder Woman gear. I stumble across a few of those old school video games that consist of the games built into the joystick (the scrolling games that plug right into the back of your TV and run on batteries), including (to my utter joy) an EA Sports NHL ‘95 game. Malcolm finds an “I Fucked Paris Hilton” t-shirt which we think (for twenty seconds) would be funny to give to Mewes (who starts shooting a movie with the fuckee in question on Tuesday), then move on.


On the ride home, [Jason] Lee calls to confirm he’ll be rockin’ the V’thon Amy Q&A mic (there was a question as to whether or not he was gonna be in town, but like a champ, he came through). We chit-chat the whole ride home (he’s loving his TV show [My Name is Earl]) and he wraps it up by busting some Syndrome to Harley.


We get home and find Team Case chilling with Jen. I head into my office to do a phoner with the Bergen Record (to promote the Count Basie gig) and a phoner with Entertainment Weekly (to suck Criterion’s cock; finally, Criterion’s getting some mainstream ink). After that, we head to The Ivy for a late lunch.


Malcolm made the reservation at the wrong Ivy, so we stand there, displaced for a moment in the packed restaurant, at a loss. The Ivy kindly gets us in ASAP regardless. We’re seven for lunch: me, Jen, Malcolm, Chay, Trish, Cookie (Mos’s girlfriend), Xtian and Endless. I spend most of the lunch jawing with Trish about her new boyfriend.


We head home and after a moment of panic in which Gabrielle’s ‘Little Baby’ (a small stuffed cow) has gone missing, shit’s made right and I drop Team Case back at the hotel.


With Harley doing ‘Movie Night’ down in Gail and Byron’s room, Jen and I settle into some of the first peace and quiet we’ve had since the anniversary. We rock a little Without a Trace, which, years later, still holds up. It’s certainly as farfetched as a child abduction movie can be (it makes Ransom look plausible), but totally watchable. I’m checking email through most of the flick, and then close up shop as we settle into that Robin Williams flick The Final Cut. It requires a degree more attention than we have to give at that point, as we’re both kinda tired. We switch over to TiVo and fall asleep to some Simpsons eps.


Saturday 26 March 2005 @ 12:08 p.m.


Fucking dogs get me up at 5:45, but thankfully, Mewes is lingering about upstairs. I let the dogs out of my room (figuring Mewes’ll let ’em out upstairs), take a leak, and go back to bed.


Rise from a bad dream at about 8:10, and throw on some clothes so I can get Xtian to the Stash. Once there, X, Bob and Gina put together the pickup bags (shirt, tip sheet, VA Almanac, comic), and I sign 500 copies of Silent Bob Speaks. After some last minute rearrangement of the shelves, I’m out of there (joint opens at eleven, there’s already a small crowd outside, and since I look like I slept in my clothes in the back of a car, I’m not in the mood to take pics and stuff).


I swing by the house, pick up Malcolm, and head to the office. Phil and I shift some of the Jersey Girl credits around on the Avid, render ’em, and Phil’s off and running with the BetaCam output. I head over to Phil’s office to finish off Tea Party and since Phil’s taught me a few more tricks to Final Cut, I go back to the head of the flick to do a fine cut, whipping that motherfucker into a lean, tight (yet still oddly loose) one-hour forty-seven. I’m behind that desk from 12:30 p.m. to 11:00 p.m.


Along the way, my Canadian homey Jim Jackman (of Degrassi production fame) arrives, and after some initial histrionics from Malcolm (of the “There can be only one!” variety), all three of us mellow out with not one, not two, but three spliffs. Amazingly, I’m still able to edit (albeit more c-a-r-e-f-u-l-l-y, maaaaaaannn...). We order some food (natch) and it’s about the best food I’ve tasted in what feels like eons (everything tastes better when you’re baked — even when it’s just a bun-less cheeseburger and some chicken skewers). We spend a long time laughing about shit which probably wasn’t really all that funny, but fuck, I’m like crying at the time, unable to breathe. I don’t spark up very regularly, but when I do a) it’s usually with Malcolm, and b) it’s usually an excellent time.


We drive home (s-l-o-w-l-y, maaaaaaaaannnnn...), making a pit stop at McDonald’s for more chicken and beef. I get home and scarf two Atkins S’mores bars (because the first one tasted better than it usually does, somehow...) and climb into bed beside the slumbering Schwalbach. I’m out in less than a minute.


Sunday 27 March 2005 @ 12:09 p.m.


I wake up around 7:30 to find Harley waking up on our couch, ready to see if the Easter Bunny came. Surprise, surprise — he did (God bless Gail and Jen). Team Quinnster (Jen, Byron, Gail and I) head upstairs for the egg/basket hunt, with Byron firing away on his new Cannon 7MegaPixel SureShot.


Post holiday-lie-endorsement, we’re joined by Malcom and Jackman and start the hour-long process of trying to figure out a table configuration for twenty-plus people. The dining room table is pretty long (it seats twelve), but not long enough. So the kitchen table is dragged into the living room, the dual leaves are put in, and we’re off and running (with a tiny kids’ table between the twain adult tables for the little ones).


I update the diary, shower, and head out to Bristol Farms with Malcolm, Mewes and Jackman to pick up a fruit and cheese platter, as well as some rolls and ice.


We eat at 3:00 p.m. The joint’s packed. In attendance: me, Jen, Harley, Gail, Byron, Mos, Cookie, Jay, Chay, Phil, Malcolm, Jackman, Malcolm’s friend Andre, Gina (Chappy’s still stuck at the Stash), Bryan, Quinn, Andy, Xtian, Endless, Bry’s brother Eric, Quinn’s buddy Sal, Gabrielle and Charlotte (if I’m forgetting anybody, I’m sorry). I stick to the protein.


I talk to Phil for a long time, and later, while everyone’s playing poker, Bob Schreck and Diana Schutz (both in town for the Sin City première) and Chappy join us for desserts.


I throw everyone out at 9:00 p.m., as we’ve got an early morning ahead of us.


Jen and I are asleep by 10:00 p.m.


Monday 28 March 2005 @ 12:03 p.m.


I get up before even the dogs, shower, send out last minute emails to Ben [Affleck], [Jason] Lee, Joey [Lauren Adams], and Jeff about the ‘Thon. Then, me and Malcolm meet Jay and Jackman at the office so we can load some artwork for the glass cases at the Dome into the car.


I get to the Dome around 7:30 a.m. The line outside is huge (natch). Inside, we’re all buzzing with preshow activity, doing tech-checks, marking off reserved seats, etc. Smalls has done a great job of pulling the event together. Nothing is left undone.


I jump outside to do a quick interview with CNN.


I’m astounded by the video projection system. For weeks, we’ve been sweating what the projected BetaCams and DV tapes were gonna look like on the Dome’s massive screen. But Vern and George’s amazing machine somehow manages to not only keep all the resolution, but actually improve the picture too.


At 8:45, Mewes and I head outside to get the bracelets around the wrists of all 830 attendees.


Vulgarthon begins (and is fairly well documented over at News Askew).


I get home a little after two in the morning. Jen and I trade tales of Vulgarthon, and I fall asleep to a TiVo’ed Simpsons mid-conversation.


Tuesday 29 March 2005 @ 12:03 p.m.


Fucking bastard mutts. Goddamn 6:45 a.m.!


I cruise the board and the ‘net to see what’s what re: Vulgarthon, then call in to the Alice Morning Radio show at 8:00 for a promised on-air chat with Hooman (who was briefly in attendance yesterday). They’re mid-commercials, so we opt to have them call me back.


I set about wrapping up last week’s journal and store it in the new Boring-Ass Life forum, and get current with the new stuff.


Alice calls back, and I chit-chat with Sarah, No-Name, Hooman and Matty about the Vulgarthon.


Jen tells me I’ve gotta bring Harley to her spring break camp (she’s on Easter break from school all week, but she’s doing this day camp thing). I’m also to drop Xtian’s Gabrielle off at the hotel, but her ‘Little Baby’ cow has gone missing. Ten minutes later, after said cow is unearthed, Malcolm, Harley, Gabrielle and I are off.


I drop both kids off at their separate destinations, and then call Joey, Dwight and Lee to touch-base about the night before. All enjoyed themselves (Lee I wind up getting via email later).


Malcolm and I swing by the Griddle, where I’m supposed to meet Brad and Chris for post-’Thon breakfast. Since I’m already a half hour late and we don’t see them outside, we swing back home to grab Jen and Jackman for some Griddle instead.


The four of us Griddle it up, going over the previous night’s activities. As we head off, we run into Bryan and Brian (Lynch) and get their thoughts on the ‘Thon. As far as we can tell, everyone had a good time.


We pop into Rite Aid for some smokes (for Jen) and gum (for me), then head back home.


I talk to ********** who’s come to town for this meeting with the folks at ********** about a ********** feature. We plan for her and *********** (her producing partner/husband) to come over to the house at nine tomorrow morning for a pre-meeting before we all head over to ***********.


(NOTE: As the above stuff is still in development stages, I’ve gotta leave the pertinent info out until deals are in place and signed. Sorry.)


I lay down to watch some TiVo and wind up falling asleep ‘til four-ish. I talk to Mos for awhile, to get his thoughts about the Amy Q&A. Afterwards, Jay bombs by after his first day of working on Bottoms Up. He fills us in on the shooting, and then me, him, Malcolm and Jackman head to Baja Fresh to bring home some dinner. There, we run into Bryan and Brian (Quinn) and Brian’s friend Sal at the adjacent Coffee Bean. We chit-chat for a bit, pick up the food, then head home.


Me, Jen, Jackman, Malcolm and Harley chow down. Following that, Jen and I put Harley to bed on our couch, and we close the curtains on the boudoir portion of the master bedroom suite and get into some TiVo. We’re both asleep by eight or nine.


Wednesday 30 March 2005 @ 12:04 p.m.


Cursed dogs. 6:00 a.m. I let ’em out, take a leak, then head into my office for email and whatnot.


I shower at about 8:00 and then Jackman, Malcolm and I head to Coffee Bean to grab a box of coffee and pastries/bagels for the meeting. We get back around 9:00 to find Jen fixing up the house/living room for our meeting (fucking champ, that one). ************* and *********** arrive, and they sit down with me and Jackman to talk about what’s going on with the ************ feature. All seems on track, as we’re all on the same page. At about 10:30, ***********, ********** and I head over to the ************ lot.


The meeting goes insanely well, with the women in charge of both ********** and *********** as well the ************ and ***********, the two folks in charge at ************* in attendance. Everyone seems to want this flick to happen. You couldn’t ask for better feedback — even on the subject of me bringing ************* aboard.


*********** and ************ head to the airport from the lot, and I head home. Jen’s been planting, so she’s a bit sweaty and dirty. While she showers, Gail comes up and we go over the schedule for my trip east, mid-west, and north. I fill Jackman in on my morning meeting, and then Jen and I head to Quizno’s for some lunch. Following that, we head to the newspaper stand to grab the Times (NY and LA), USA Today, and sundry other papers that headline the Weinstein/Disney split.


We stop by the house so Jen can pick up some dry-cleaning and then head over to the Valley to drop said dry-cleaning off. Afterwards, I drop Jen back at the house and go to pick up Harley from camp. From there, Quinnster and I head to Laser Blazer for this week’s new DVDs (it’s a slim week for new releases). I chitchat with store-owner Ron about the Vulgarthon (he was there for the first half of it), and then Harley and I are off for home.


I hear from Tony Angellotti (my publicist) that both CNN and KTLA ran pieces on the Vulgarthon, and that the LA Daily News is running something tomorrow, and that Marilyn Beck’s column is supposed to be running an item about the Craig/UV engagement as well.


Once home, I climb back into my loungin’ gear and hit the board/check email. Half an hour later, it’s dinnertime. Gail cooked a chicken that me, Byron, Jen, Gail and Jackman dig into.


Post-meal, Jackman, Gail and Jen grab smokes on the deck, and I start signing a bunch of Silent Bob Speaks that Smalls laid out on the dining room table earlier that day. An hour later, Jackman’s ride to the airport arrives. We say goodbye, and it’s back to the Great White North for Jim.


I lay down and check email/the board while watching TiVo. At a certain point, I start falling asleep mid-post. Jen brings down some Jell-o which we dig into while peeping a Law & Order I’ve never seen. At the end of it, I’m already falling asleep. I’m out by nine.


Thursday 31 March 2005 @ 12:04 p.m.


Unholy floor-crawlers start the day at 6:48. Thankfully, I hear Byron at the top of the stairs, so all I’ve gotta do is let the mutts out the bedroom door. I take a leak and hit the board, figuring out when I’m gonna update the blog.


I take my laptop into the bathroom and check email during a good morning shit. I get through a lot of email, but there’s somehow still another hundred left to address in the inbox.


Gail calls to let me know Josh Horowitz is calling to finish up his interview. Josh is writing a book about five young filmmakers, and we’ve already done about two hours on the phone a few weeks ago. This time, we do an hour and change. As he’s great at posing queries and listening, the time flies by.


Jen wakes up as I finish the interview. She goes into the morning ritual of riding the couch while sipping coffee and having her morning smokes, while I update the diary.


We opt for a little Newsroom brunch. I take a shower and we’re off.


Over turkey meatloaf (me) and artichokes (Jen), I ask the wife if she’d be interested in receiving her birthday/our anniversary gift today instead of waiting ‘til next week. Naturally, she opts to get it today, so post-brunch, we head over to Beverly Hills.


I let her take over the wheel to circle Rodeo while I dash into Tiffany to pick up the gift I’d ordered oh, so long ago, yet couldn’t wait another week to bestow. Before it’s wrapped up, my Tiffany rep gives me a peek at the goods. As impressive as the box is, what’s even more stunning is what’s inside the box. What does a fella get the Queen of his world for her thirty-fourth birthday/six-year anniversary? A diamond tiara, of course.


I exit just as Jen’s rounding the corner, and I hop into the driver’s seat. She tears into the package and goes giddy. It’s a nice fit and the design is subtle enough to wear everyday. As much as I was loved four minutes ago, my stock’s somehow taken another jump.


We head home and fuck like stoned test bunnies.


I head over to the exo-house office to do an interview about Alanis and the tenth anniversary of ‘Jagged Little Pill’. It goes really well. Before and post-interview, I rap with Smalls about the ‘Thon.


Back home, I carry the new fireplace screen upstairs. Harley and her friend are in the pool, and Jen’s outside planting and hosing down the deck. I sign up the rest of the Silent Bob Speaks books that’re sitting on the dining room table, then head downstairs and get into the loungin’ wear. Smalls comes over to box up the books and get ’em ready to send to Don in Florida.


While I’m laying down checking email and the board, Smalls comes in to schedule an appointment for when I get back from the east coast to talk about a raise. I say fuck the appointment, you got the raise (a roughly fourty-five percent raise at that) and send him on his way.


I talk to Phil (my agent) for awhile and an hour later, I talk to Mos. We’re all trying to come up with a formula for the Clerks 2 backend that we plan to share with Jeff, Brian and Mewes. During this, I eat some cheese from one of the pizzas Jen’s ordered for the girls.


We watch some TiVo ‘til it’s time for Harley to go to bed (tonight, in Byron and Gail’s room, thank God). We go downstairs and kiss Harley goodnight, then head up to watch a little Law & Order. As it ends, Chappy and Gina arrive. I put on my day clothes and head upstairs to the living room for a meeting.


Chappy, Gina and I go over all the post-’Thon data as well as other Stash details. The next two store-run events on the horizon are the Silent Bob Speaks book signing and the Mallrats tenth Anniversary screening/Q&A to be shot for the Mallrats tenth DVD. We opt to make a new shirt-as-ticket for this screening which we’ll be holding in a smaller theater at the Arclight, if all goes well (looking at a 400-seater this time, so get your tix early). We decide to scrap the Kevin Smith InAction exclusive for the WizardWorld Philly Con, as I’m not gonna make it (we’ll be shooting Clerks 2 at that point), and move full steam ahead on the San Diego, Chicago and Boston variants.


Bob and Gina head off, and I head downstairs to find Jen and Chay kicking back on the couch. We all chit-chat for a bit, ‘til Chay heads home and I put my loungin’ wear back on. I settle into bed and check some final email/board stuff. Jen joins me and we cuddle up watching some Simpsons and eventually fall asleep.






Friday 1 April 2005 @ 12:05 p.m.


6:13. What the fuck possesses these varmints? Byron’s upstairs, so I don’t have to make the morning climb. It’s freezing in the room, so I close the black-out curtains and crank the heat.


Take a leak and head directly to the desk-top to check email and start composing yesterday’s diary. An hour or so later, Jen wakes up insisting I’m trying to roast her alive with the heat.


Harley calls up to the room (intercom system) to tell us there’s a bird loose in the house. We head downstairs to investigate, only to discover we’ve been April Fooled by a five year old. We are filled with shame.


We drop Harley off at camp and head to the Griddle. Post-Griddle, we head home.


I have Gail switch my flight so that I’m not on the afternoon flight or the redeye, but instead, a 7:15 flight the next a.m. which will get me to Red Bank three hours before showtime. This frees me up to lounge with Jenny.


Sacked out on the bed, in front of the T V, I watch the rest of The Final Cut while posting and checking email.


Gail serves up family dinner and following the meal, Harley heads to Nan and Pop’s room for Movie Night (SpongeBob and The Wind in the Willows). Jen and I watch Sayles’ latest, Silver City, during which Jen starts to get sick from some bad cheese she thinks she’s eaten. She lays down, and I pack for the early morning airport run. We fall asleep watching TiVo’ed Simpsons.


Saturday 2 April 2005 @ 12:05 p.m.


I wake up before the dogs and jump in the shower. I check the board while I’m drying, get dressed, and kiss the sleeping Schwalbach goodbye.


Byron drops me at the airport and I jump on the plane for N.J. I’m ticked to discover the United flight I’m on doesn’t have power-ports in the seats, so at a certain point, I’m gonna run out of juice for the laptop. The in-flight flick’s Ocean’s Twelve (which I’d never seen but wind up really liking), so that’s two hours during which I’m not depleting the laptop battery. When the movie’s over, I watch some Degrassi episodes from the current season that I’d missed. On the fourth ep, the battery dies, so I go back to reading the treatment for the ****** movie before I fall asleep.


We land at Newark. The weather’s insanely shitty. I pick up a rental SUV and drive through the downpour to the MotherLand. Instead of taking the Red Bank exit, I get off at 117 and take Rt. 36 — the scenic route. It’s always a roll down memory lane when I get back into town and drive past places like Bethany Rd. and Dante Tuxedos. I wouldn’t be who I am or do what I do today without a lifetime of inspirado, courtesy of Monmouth County.


I get to the Molly Pitcher and check in. Thank Christ — they’ve finally upgraded and installed the ethernet. In fact, they’ve gone WiFi. I check the board and email and order some room service.


I head to the Basie, park at the loading dock, and head inside. After a few pics for and with Mark Voger (of the Asbury Park Press), I head outside, grab some fresh air before the long haul that’s to come, then head out onstage for the Q&A.


Seven hours later, post-Q&A, I hit the store for a late-night signing. Walt, Mike Z (HelperMonkee to you folks) Ming and Xtian help out. By the time we wrap up, it’s light outside. At 6:20 a.m., I head back to the Molly Pitcher for some sleep.


Sunday 3 April 2005 @ 12:05 p.m.


I get up at 11:00 a.m., take a shower, and head over to the store. Walt and Jeff lay out what’s left of the Silent Bob Speaks books for me to sign, as well as a pile of Evening Withs. The guy who runs the River’s Edge Café next door sends over some breakfast which I down while chit-chatting with some board-ers who roll by.


I’m off to Newark where I turn the car in and jump on the plane to Chicago’s O’Hare.


I sleep most of the flight, which winds up being extended because we’re circling at O’Hare for a while, and when we land, we don’t have a gate. I finally get off the plane and outside where I’m met by my brother Donald who’s in town for the show. Mom was supposed to be there as well, but she’s come down with a heavy-duty flu that’s prevented her from attending.


Don and I drive out to Crystal Lake and we chit-chat about the gig, the online store (which he runs), Jen’s impending birthday (7 April), and a bunch of other stuff. We stop at Quizno’s so I can grab a Steakhouse Beef Dip on low carb flat-bread before we hit the Raue.


We get to the Raue and a dude is waiting for me out back with some DVD covers and a Sharpie. My hands are full of my bags so I shrug and hustle inside, say hi to Judy Irwin and Co., and duck into my dressing room to change the shirt I’ve dripped some Quizno’s onto earlier. Fifteen minutes after I get to the gig, I’m being introduced and rolling out onstage.


The gig goes swimmingly. Great house, great crowd, great questions. Before I know it, six hours have gone by. I say my g’nights, sign a few things for the Raue folks backstage, sign a few things for the guy who was waiting for me outside when I got to the Raue, then collapse into the car and go. On the ride back, I fight to stay awake by talking to Don.


We get to the Hilton at the airport (Don’s staying elsewhere), and Don has me sign about twenty Marvels, Mutants, and Monsters DVDs before I hug him goodbye and stumble toward check-in.


I get to my room and open the computer. I check my email to see that Gail’s changed my return flight to LA, which allows me to sleep in an extra two hours. I fall asleep watching a Spectravision-rented Ocean’s Twelve.


Monday 4 April 2005 @ 11:56 a.m.


Because there are no dogs, I wake up at the Hilton Airport at O’Hare around ten o’clock. Ah, sweet no-dog sleep.


Rockin’ the morning wood, and I’ve got a few minutes, so I tug one out to pics of Jen and head to the shower.


As I dry, I take a peek at the board to gauge reaction to this weekend’s Q&As. I get dressed and walk to the airport.


At the gate, I’m told that I’m not on the 11:30, but on the 12:40 instead. I head to the other gate where I’m told I was, indeed, on the 11:30, but it’s now locked out, and I’m currently on standby for the 12:40, but they can put me on the 3:00 p.m. I stare, dead-eyed, at the attendant and opt for the 3:00 p.m. to LAX.


Rather than bitch and moan, I head for the Admiral’s Club lounge and, with over three hours to kill, order up a beer. Then another. Then another.


By two o’clock, I’ve got a good buzz going on. I’m checking the board, checking email, walking the LA-based Jenny through iTunes and iChat as I dirty talk her from my booth in the Admiral’s Club. Even though I’ve snapped one off this a.m., I’m more than ready to be ravished by her when I get home. I contemplate getting flat-out sloppy drunk on the plane during the four-hour flight home, but decide instead to sleep the time away. In an effort to aid this, I order my fourth and final Michelob Ultra.


My brother Don rolls into the Admiral’s Club and we talk about the gig the night before, as well as the friend of the poster in the Midwest Q&A thread who called me a jerk for not signing after the show. He drops me off at my gate before heading to his gate for his Orlando departure.


Prior to takeoff, I read some Boondocks until I fall asleep. I wake up during the food service to find that the two options for dinner are now one: all the chicken strips are gone, so all they have left is pizza. I pass on the pizza and crack open the laptop, plug in to the seat, and watch My Own Private Idaho for the first time in about a decade (it still holds up). Following that, I get through about half a doc called The Secret Lives of Adult Stars before it’s time to land.


Jen’s stuck in traffic, so I’m waiting at the arrivals level for a half hour. During that time, I talk to Mos on the cell, and he informs me that we’ve started getting some cashflow on Clerks 2. Jen shows up and we head back to the house.


I hit the bathroom, and then we hit the bedroom. After a quickie, we head upstairs for family dinner with Byron, Gail, and Harley. Quinnster’s feverish — so much so that they sent her home from school today. She barely touches her food, so Jen sends me to the Ralph’s for a thermometer, Pedialyte stuff (popsicles and fever reducer) and ice cream for the Sicko Chicko.


I get home, hand out the goods, and dig into some low carb ice cream in the kitchen. Jen appears and after we make out a little, she whips up a pair of strawberry milkshakes for Harley. I give the dogs some Milkbones and head down to the room.


I throw on the loungin’ wear and catch up with Sunday night’s Simpsons and Arrested Development. Jen brings Harley up to our couch where she’ll be planted for the night. Harley shows me her third loose tooth and I kiss her g’night. As she falls asleep, I’m in the bed, updating my diary-thing, while Jen’s upstairs smoking and watching TV.


Jen joins me in bed and I close up the laptop for the night, as we nestle ourselves in the sweet-yet-just embrace of Jack McCoy and Law & Order, during which we fall asleep.


Tuesday 5 April 2005 @ 11:58 a.m.


The dogs start getting restless at 7:20. Jen and I play the “You let ’em out” / ”No, you are the one who should let the dogs out...” game for a minute or two before I lose and hoof it up the stairs to let the dogs out.


I head to the bathroom to shit, check email, and update the diary.


I switch from laptop to desk-top and continue with the email and board stuff. Over on iChat, Walt and I go over some light Stash East refurbishments I wanna do.


Jen gets up late and we hang out with Harley for a bit. She’s still feeling under the weather, so she’s gonna rest up today. I shower and Jen and I head to Quizno’s for lunch.


Afterwards, I drop Jen off at the doctor’s and I cruise over to Laser Blazer for the new DVDs. Following that, I stop by a newsstand and pick up the latest Empire magazine.


I pick up Jen and we head back to the house. She runs in and grabs a dress she wants to have tailored, and we head over to the Valley to the cleaners. While Jen’s inside, I talk to Ernie O’Donnell on the cell about the Stash East refurbishments. Jen grabs some Coffee Bean and we head back home.


I sack out in front of the TiVo and do some iChat biz while watching Jack McCoy bust some ass on Law & Order. Jen has a meeting about our poetry event in the living room with Daniella and Russell Milton, as dinner begins in the kitchen for me, Harley, Byron and Gail.


I inhale a chicken breast and a cheeseburger while we all chit-chat about our respective days. At the tail end of the meal, Malcolm and Andre come over. They grab some barbecue as well, while I take Harley in to Jen to say goodnight. Quinnster heads downstairs with Nan and Pop while me, Malcolm and Andre head to my room to watch a new cut of their documentary, Small Town/Gay Bar. It’s some excellent, excellent stuff and we talk about the possible involvement of Norman Lear and the Sundance Channel.


During the screening, Mewes comes home after a long day on the set of the new flick he’s doing. We talk about maybe going to the Bicycle Casino in Long Beach, but opt instead to get him some In-N-Out so he can crash with a DVD full of Murder, She Wrotes. Malcolm and Andre head off, and me and Mewes take a ride down to Sunset for a Double-Double, Animal Style. He tells me about the shoot and how it’s going on the flick, ‘til we get home. He heads to his room and I head upstairs with some In-N-Out for Jen, whose meeting has ended. We fall asleep watching TiVo’ed Simpsons.


Wednesday 6 April 2005 @ 11:58 a.m.


6:30. Fucking 6:30. Why can’t these dogs sleep ‘til ten? I let ’em out of the room but, mercifully, Byron’s upstairs to let ’em out-out. I head to the bathroom, take a leak, then retire to my office to update the diary.


Mewes wakes up, and I take him to get some smokes. We head down to the Ford dealer to pick up Byron (who dropped his truck off for some work), and I call Jen and ask her if she wants to get dressed and head to breakfast with me and Mewes, to celebrate his two years of sobriety.


I drop off Byron and pick up Jen, and her, Mewes and I hit the Griddle. We chit-chat about Mewes’s new flick, and try to figure out whether or not we’ve got enough time to hit the Bicycle Casino near Long Beach before Mewes’s call time. It would seem not, so we decide to scrap the Bike for today and do it this weekend instead.


When I get home, there’s a situation heating up — a situation which could wind up pushing the Clerks 2 shoot by a month and change. The producer Jenno Topping (who, aside from being a producer is also the main squeeze of Project Greenlight’s Chris Moore) has sent me a script, not to direct (smart lady), but to act in. It’s this movie Susanah Grant (writer of Erin Brokovich) wrote and is directing called Catch & Release, which stars Jennifer Garner and Timothy Olyphant. I’d be playing Sam, who’s in the flick quite a bit. Somehow, off of An Evening With Kevin Smith, Susanah thinks I’m right for the role, and Jenno’s not doing the smart thing and trying to convince her otherwise. So Jenno and I talk about it, and she says that Phil (Raskind, my agent) insists it can’t happen, because we’re due to shoot C2 in June. However, that schedule’s not set yet, and we’re talking about pushing maybe a month and a half here (maybe two) to do something I’ve never been offered before: a big part in a big movie.


I call Phil about it, and we hash it out, and talk about whether it’s even a possibility. By call’s end, I decide I should talk to Harvey about it.


I call Harvey and tell him about the flick. Harvey says that I should probably read the script (I haven’t, at this point; meant to take it with me to NJ and Ill last weekend, but my carry-on was overpacked already). He says: “If it’s gonna make you Tom Cruise, then do it.” I tell him it’s not gonna make me Tom Cruise, but that nothing short of a deal with Lucifer is ever gonna do that anyway. He says: “My first instinct is to say you should keep your powder dry, because you’ve got The Passion coming up. But if they’re gonna pay you a lot to do it...” I tell him I don’t know what I’d be getting paid, and he says to call him back once I’ve read the script — as that’s the key factor in deciding to make/be in any movie. He also tells me that Fox Searchlight might be coming in with New Co. on Clerks 2 and handling the foreign side. Since Searchlight’s had such a killer few years lately, and since both Harvey and Searchlight previously worked together on (and did so well with their respective releases of) Garden State, this is awesome news.


Jen comes home from a mani/pedi/brow, and I hit her with all of this. She’s kinda floored. She says, “You never cease to amaze me.” I say, “When I’m all kinds of terrible in this flick, you’ll cease to be amazed.” She says, “If I were you, I’d be really flattered that somebody thought of you to do this at all,” to which I agree, but counter with: “But I’m not an actor. I don’t wanna be an actor. I’ve never wanted to be an actor.” She says, “Maybe that’s why they thought of you.” Regardless, she thinks I should at least give it a shot, inasmuch as I should read the script and meet with the director. I tell her I can’t read the script ‘til tonight, because I’m gonna be in the office all day working on the Mallrats re-cut, so she says she’s gonna give the script a read in my absence.


I shower and take Byron back to the Ford dealer to pick up his truck. On my way back, I call Jen and suggest she meet me downstairs so I can take her to the cleaners to pick up her tailored dress. On the way over, she starts breaking the script down for me, talking about the first half, and whether or not I can pull this part off (she thinks I can; but then, she also thinks I’m attractive, so it’s already been proven that this woman is delusional).


We grab her dress, and while Jen’s getting some Coffee Bean, Jon Gordon calls. I debrief him, and he, too, is like “It might be worth pushing the Clerks 2 shoot, because who knows what comes of you acting in this flick? Maybe you open yourself up to a completely different audience who’ll try out Clerks 2?” I say “A completely different audience who’ll then hate Clerks 2?” We talk about the Fox Searchlight development before he’s gotta jump off the phone. I drop Jen off at the house and head to the office to talk to Mosier about all this.


At the office, I fill Mos in (not like that, you fucking children...), and we talk about the feasibility of moving the Clerks 2 shoot by a month or two. It’s do-able, but will anyone be happy about waiting? We talk about how Mos will fill in that two month gap, and come up with an option: if he gets bored, he can take over editing duties on Malcolm’s doc (which is editor-less at the moment). Phil, meanwhile, has called to say this Catch & Release thing is getting serious, and that he’s starting to feel like I should give it a shot, too. He’s gonna read the script tonight, and I tell him I’ll be doing the same.


Jen calls to tell me she’s finished reading the script. She’s not a chick-flick fan, but she loves this script. She says it’s really warm, touching, and poignant. She says I can do Sam in my sleep (not like that, you fucking children...), and that she thinks I should give it a shot.


Mos and I head up to the house, where Jen’s getting ready for her Birthday Dinner Girls Night Out with her friends. I tell her that Mos and I are gonna head to the Palm for dinner and then over to the Bike for some poker. She looks pretty-as-hell in her newly tailored dress and tiara, and I tell her so. I also tell her to have a good time, and with that, Mos and I are off to the Palm.


At the Palm, me and Mos both get Filet Mignon (his well-done, mine black and blue), and over some beers, we talk about this book he’s reading in which a former travel writer breaks down science (from the Big Bang to evolution) into laymen’s terms. After dinner, we opt to pop in on the Girl’s Night Out at Koi, the sushi place on La Cienega. We valet the car, and head to the entry, getting snapped repeatedly by paparazzi standing outside. The paparazzi are an important aspect of the story solely because of what happens next: forty seconds later, the bouncer tells me I can’t come in because I’m in shorts. I tell him I’m not staying, and that I just wanted to pop in and give my wife a kiss; it’ll take four minutes, tops. He says it’ll take no minutes, because I’m in shorts. Mos heads in to get Jen, while I stand at the entry, pretty okay with the whole affair, even if the paparazzi are snapping away at me. Seeing that I’m somebody the paparazzi seem to feel is worth wasting film on, the bouncer says, “You can step inside the door and wait right there.” I tell him it’s cool, I get it, and that I don’t wanna get him in trouble. After a minute more, he says, “I’m gonna go to the bathroom, so I’m not gonna be standing here for a few minutes. If you were to walk in, I wouldn’t know — ya’ dig?” I tell him I’ve got no interest in flaunting house rules, but thanks anyway. Then, the Birthday Girl (well, tomorrow anyway) emerges and we make out a little in the doorway of Koi, until the Bouncer returns from his leak and says, “The boss says you can go in.” So in I go with my wife, say hi to all the ladies at her table (Chay, Trish, Daniella, Lisa, Cookie, and Fanshen), kiss Jen again, and head off with Mos.


We stop at the house so I can grab more gum and Mos can grab the house keys he left behind, and we head toward the Pig ‘n Whistle, where Mewes is shooting tonight. I call his cell, but no answer, so Mos and I take the 101 to the 5 to the Long Beach Freeway and the Bike. As we exit, Mewes calls, and I tell him we tried to swing by. He’s bummed to not be going to the Bike too, and says if he gets off early, he’ll call and join us.


At the Bike, Mos and I play ‘til one or so. Our table’s filled with the usual assortment of rounders and characters. Tonight, the highlight is the Mexican couple in their late twenties/early thirties, who’re on a roll. The woman keeps saying to everyone at the table: “I’m not married, but my boyfriend is!” She digs this line, because she says it at least twenty times as the night goes on. A fan who’d been playing with us for half an hour quietly introduces himself and lets us know he’s a fan, which causes a dude at the other end of the table to whisper to the couple “I knew it”. By 1 a.m., Mos and I are ready to Donkey out, so we go all in on shit hands. We leave two hundred bucks lighter (we were only playing at the $2/$3/No Limit table) and head home.


I drop Mos off at his house, which is historic because, in the nearly-year he and Cookie have owned the house, I’ve never been over. It’s in Echo Park, and it’s pretty sweet, with excellent foliage up front, a nice backyard, and a killer fireplace. I peep it out, take a dump (couldn’t hold it anymore), and head home.


At home, Jen’s half in the bag after drinking martinis at Koi all night. But before I can take advantage of it, she falls asleep. Shortly thereafter, I do the same, watching TiVo’ed Simpsons.


Thursday 7 April 2005 @ 11:59 a.m.


The dogs get me up around 6:55. I let ’em out, take a leak, then climb back into bed.


I awake again at 9:30, to the sound of wife and child puttering about the room. Wife’s trying to convince child that going to school today would be in her best interest, child’s stalling. I sit up and wish the taller of the two a happy birthday. Wife takes child to get dressed for school, and I take morning shit.


With child off, wife and I sit around and play catch-up from last night. We then decide how we’re gonna celebrate her thirty-fourth birthday. We cuddle for a while, and then talk about where to eat breakfast. Like every pampered Hollywood wife, Jen opts for Quizno’s. Ever the love-slave, I head off to hunt and gather. Like a good caveman, I bring the dogs with me.


On the way to Quizno’s, I go a few miles out of my way to Moe’s on Melrose to get Schwalbach thirty-four multi-colored roses, as well as some gardenias to float in bowls of water around the room (she loves that) and some flowers for her mom (without whom there is no birthday girl). I then head to Quizno’s, and stop at Wendy’s for burgers for the Muttlies.


On the way home, I call Jenno and tell her I’m in, but that I think she’s crazy for thinking I could pull this off, when this town’s lousy with real actors. She tells me I’ll be meeting with the director on Monday.


I get home, dump the booty on the respective booty-getters, and settle in in front of the TiVo to eat my low-carb Steakhouse Beef Dip wrap and dig into a little low-carb ice cream. We opt for Dirty War, an HBO movie on DVD about a dirty bomb going off in London that I picked up the other day.


Before we know it, it’s three, and Harley’s home. Jen and Harley bomb around for a while, and I try to get through the now-300 emails that’re sitting in my inbox.


Suddenly, Harley decides it’s present time. We head to the kitchen, where Byron, Gail, and Harley’s gifts are all spread out. Jen unwraps and coos, and Quinnster and I fight about who gets to keep the boxes (I like to wind the kid up sometimes). Following that, dinner is served: lasagna for the Birthday Girl and family, bun-less cheeseburgers for me. Harley makes us go around the table, stating our name, age, and a memory of our favorite birthday. It’s moments like this, I realize, that I’m really gonna miss in twenty years.


Post dinner, the candles are lit, and the Birthday Girl has at it. While the other four dig into what looks like just the flat-out best Duncan Hines cake ever made, I putter, trying not to think about all that sugar I’m missing out on. Quinnster and I adjourn to the living room to play some Tetris until it’s time for her to go to bed.


I rendezvous with Schwalbach in our bedroom, and we go over the three scenes I’ll be reading with Susanah on Monday. Immediately, I feel like a total fraud, but Jen seems into my horrible little performance. We go through the scenes for an hour, until I retire to the bed, where I fight with the room’s WiFi for a decent connection. Around 10:20, mid-TiVo’ed Law & Order, I fall asleep. Jen wakes me up an hour later to say g’night and climb into bed beside me. It wasn’t the best birthday in the world, but considering we did exactly what she wanted, it wasn’t the worst either.


Friday 8 April 2005 @ 11:59 a.m.


6:45 with the dogs. It’s like a fucking meat locker in our room. I let Captain Insecurity and the Brainless Wonder out, take a leak, and head to the computer to update the diary. I’m feeling kinda randy, but I don’t wanna wake Jen up, so I click open my Jen nudes and tug one out in my office at the desk. From there, it’s over to email.


Jen’s got a doctor’s appointment at eleven, so after she makes Harley’s lunch and we see her off (Jen from downstairs, me from the upstairs balcony — she’s wearing pony-tails to school for a class trip to see a stage version of Aladdin and looks adorable), Jen does the couch trip, the morning coffee, and is in the shower. I’m all over email and trying to sort out more Clerks 2/Catch & Release stuff.


Get an email from JJ Abrams, who’s in for my guest-hosting episode of Dinner for Five. The final, locked five is JJ, Jason Lee, Stan Lee, Mark Hamill, and me. We shoot on Tuesday.


Jen and I make a post-doctor’s lunch date (as well as a post-lunch fuck date), and she’s off. Feeling a little randy again at the thought of the post-lunch fuck date, I head back to my office, break open the Jen pics again, and jerk off anew.


Off to the shower. I’ve got a noon meeting at the office with reps from the Director’s Guild. I dry off, get dressed, grab some gum, and head downstairs.


Byron and Gail are off to Mammoth for the weekend for a ski trip we’re sending Byron on for his birthday. We make arrangements to have Louis (the little Chocolate Lab Jen and I bought for Harley at Chay’s insistence on New Year’s Day that Byron has somehow inherited) shipped off to puppy camp (she’s still in the stage where she needs constant supervision, lest she eat all Harley’s crayons and shits all over the house). I kiss ’em both goodbye and then take the three-minute drive down to the Sycamore office.


There, Fern (from DGA East) and John (from DGA West) are already waiting with Smalls. I take them to my office and they chat me up about finally joining the DGA. I’ve been directing films for twelve years now, but I’ve never been a DGA member. It’s kinda flattering that they’re making the push to get me to join, because they feel that my inclusion sends a clear message to up-and-coming indie auteurs that the Guild is an essential part of any director’s balanced breakfast. They tell me I’m one of the last holdouts (Quentin being another; Robert’s been in and out of the Guild several times) and ask why I’ve never joined. I don’t really have a good answer beyond the fact that I couldn’t see the point in being part of another useless club. They maintain that, even though I’m deep enough in my career and have enough juice to not need Guild muscle behind me at the bargaining table, there are other benefits. They crack open a numbers sheet that makes it clear that if I’d been a Guild member since Mallrats, I’d have made close to a million dollars in residuals off of video sales. Also, by joining, the A.D.s and U.P.M.s I work with get protected and residuals too, as well as an insanely top-notch health plan. I suddenly remember why I didn’t join years ago, and that’s because I never want to throw that ‘A Film By’ credit in front of my name in the credit block. They say that, as a DGA member, it’s not mandatory at all (in fact, they try to limit the ‘Film By’ credit so that it doesn’t lose its meaning, and save it for folks like Scorsese, Lynch, Lucas, Spielberg, etc.). They cap it all off by telling me not every director is invited to join (or even accepted into) the Guild, and that I’d be a good score because I’m high profile, and if what it takes is an invitation letter from Guild President Michael Apted, then said letter will arrive next week. I say I’ll give it all a serious think, and thanks for coming in. Nice folks.


Post-meeting, I pop into the editing room to see what Mosier’s been doing with the Mallrats re-cut. We’ve decided that, instead of calling this The Director’s Cut that we should call it The Cut That Should Never Have Been — as longer doesn’t mean better (certainly in the case of Rats). Afterwards, while I’m chitchatting with Smalls, Jen calls. She’s home from the doctor’s and ready to grab some lunch.


I swing up to the house, grab Schwalbach, and we head over to the Newsroom for lunch. The place is crowded, but we get a table and chow down: me on turkey meatloaf and chicken, Jen on some veggie soup and an artichoke. We talk about a bunch of stuff, including the Poetry Reading even we’re holding up at the house next weekend to benefit Harley’s school’s Fine Arts program.


After lunch, we cross the street and go to Kitson’s, this chick store on Robertson. Jen picks up an ‘Award Winning Wife’ t-shirt and an ashtray. Mos calls, and we talk about the Rats cut, and how we should perhaps deliver big chunks to Universal, as there’s a lot of post-work to do to get it presentable (they’ve gotta go back to the negative, re-mix the sound, extend music cues, create new music cues, etc.). Done shopping, Jen and I head cross town to pick up Harley from school.


On the ride, Jen and I start talking sex, which evolves (or devolves) into dirty talk. I’m hard and she’s wet, but the kid gets out of school in two minutes. All hot and bothered, we decide that, when we get home, we’re gonna send Harley to watch some TV in her room for ten minutes while we go upstairs for a quickie.


Jen goes in to get Harley, and we head to Wendy’s for some fries and chicken tenders for Jen and Harley respectively. We figure if the kid’s chowing down when we get home, she won’t notice the momentary absence of Mom and Dad. I get us home perhaps a little speedier than usual, and as we get out of the car, Jay greets us from the upstairs window. Beautiful: a built-in babysitter. I tell him to come downstairs and watch Harley for a few minutes so Jen and I can “talk”.


With Harley safely in Jay’s care, Jen heads upstairs, and I take Louis out for a brief walk (something Byron usually does, but he’s on his way to Mammoth with Gail already). I put Louis outside with Scully and Mulder and head down to the bedroom, to discover the already naked Jennifer sprawled out on the bed. I lock the door, turn on the fuck-music (no, not ‘Moonlighting’, as Affleck’s suggested), and we go at it. Ten minutes in, the door phone rings. We freeze, taking a beat to decide to answer it or not, as it may be the puppy camp people coming to pick up Louis, and the door phone doesn’t ring in Harley’s room, where Jay currently is. We give in, and Jen answers the phone (the phone’s an intercom system, through which you can talk to people at the front door and buzz them in). Sure enough, it’s the puppy camp folks. She buzzes the guy in, and we briefly debate who should go downstairs. I point out that, while she’s wet, I’m hard, hence the more conspicuous of the two of us. Jen throws on a robe and races upstairs to get Louis. I call down to Mewes on the intercom and ask him to call for Louis downstairs and hand over the leash, the dog food, and the dog herself to the puppy camp pickup guy (so Jen doesn’t have to go all the way downstairs). At this point, Mewes has figured out we’re not “talking” and I hang up on his wink-wink, nudge-nudgey “Ohhhhh, shit!” Jen returns to the room, and we return to our regularly scheduled program, already in progress.


A half hour later, we head downstairs to retrieve the kid. Amazingly, she’s asleep in her barn bed, and Jay’s lying in the trundle beside her, watching Scooby Doo. We turn the TV down and leave Harley to nap for a bit, thank Mewes for the coverage, and head back upstairs. Jen rides her couch, smoking and checking email, and I head into the office to return a call to Jenno re: Catch. Jen asks me to send out some thank-you emails to folks who’ve agreed to do the Poetry Event, so I draft some missives to Anjelica Huston, Peter Coyote, Barbara Hershey and Ian McShane.


Harley wakes up and joins us upstairs, and with Jay off to play poker at Commerce, we try to figure out what the three of us should do for dinner. Harley opts for some leftover lasagna while watching Fat Albert. I join Jen up in the kitchen and make a low-carb pizza while we talk about the Poetry Event. She’s stressing about it, trying to figure out if we’ve got enough booze and enough people coming to read, where the valet parkers are gonna put seventy to a hundred cars, etc. Tickets were $175.00, so she wants attendees to feel like they’ve gotten their money’s worth. We’ve got two tickets left to sell, and we toy with the idea of putting them up for sale here on the board.


When Fat Albert ends, we start putting Harley to bed on our couch. She fucking loves that Fat Albert flick — particularly the song. I tell her that Jay and I sang that Fat Albert song in a movie once, and Jen suggests I let Harley see it (minus the guns in the scene). I grab Dogma from the library and pop it in the DVD player, jumping right to the cut scene. The kid’s amazed (you’ve gotta impress them while you can, because kids grow up so fast these days, it won’t be long before she’s like, “You’re a fucking jackass, Dad...”). When it’s over, Jen reads Harley some books while I collect some DVD options to bring upstairs for Jen and I to choose from. We kiss Harley goodnight, turn on the house alarm, leave Scully and Mulder to keep an eye on her, and head upstairs.


Before we get into any DVD watching, Jen and I play a little Battle Tetris. While I’m whipping Schwalbach’s ass, Harley joins us, claiming she’s unable to sleep and tattling that Mulder’s up on the couch with her. Jen deftly talks the Quinnster into going back to sleep, so back down she goes.


We decide on a movie: out of the pile of twenty, it all comes down to Silverado. We both rock our laptops while the movie plays on the big screen. About an hour in, Phil calls to talk about Catch. When we’re done, Jen and I opt out of the movie (she’s not into it, and I’ve seen it so many times already) and instead discuss the possibility of heading to Vancouver for three months, and what that means for the family (we travel in a pack) — particularly Harley’s school.


Tired, we head downstairs and cuddle up while watching some TiVo’ed Simpsons until we both fall asleep.


Saturday 9 April 2005 @ 12:00 p.m.


With all the black out curtains closed and no school to get Harley to, I get to sleep in ‘til around eight-ish before the dogs realize they’ve been outsmarted. I let ’em out and take a leak.


When I get back to the room, Harley’s up too. She wants breakfast, but doesn’t want to go sit at Jerry’s or The Griddle to eat. We settle on some McDonald’s, and I ask for five minutes to check my email before we go.


Two interesting emails: one from Richard Kelly, letting me know that all systems are go on Southland Tales and that I’ll be needed for two days in August. The other email’s from Edgar Wright, the director of Shaun of the Dead, who’s in town for a week. I respond to both emails, throw on some clothes, pull a jacket over Harley, and we’re off to grab some take-home chow.


As we drive, we decide that a Carl’s Jr. breakfast might be more appealing. Far less than appealing, however, is the bird shit on my windshield. Harley suggests a carwash, so we’re off to the Shell Drive-Thru wash on La Cienega and Pico. We play scream at the scrubbing brushes as they “attack” the car for five minutes, then head off.


We hit the Carl’s Jr. drive-thru and load up on crap to take home. For Mom, we hit McDonald’s on the way home (she’s a McD’s hash brown whore). Harley and I make a bet whether Mom’s up yet or not (Harley says yes, I say no). It’s ten to ten in the a.m.


We pull up outside the house and the bedroom curtains are still drawn, so I win the bet, and demand the kid give me a hundred bucks, lest I call in the goons to break her thumbs. She ignores me and carries the breakfast she apparently bought up to Jen. We snap on the lights and wake the dead, pushing greasy food and Diet Coke in her face to start her day.


Edgar Wright’s called (I left the home number in his email). He’s stranded at his hotel with nothing but winter clothing. I tell him I’ll come get him and drop him off at the Gap.


As Jen heads out to look for plants, I swing over to Edgar’s hotel, pick him up, and drop him off at the Hollywood and Highland Gap to grab some lighter gear. I head back to the house, take a shower, and retrieve Edgar a half hour later. We go back to the house, I give him the tour, and we retire to the living room bar for some beers and chit-chat about his new movie, Hot Fuzz.


I load the dogs into the car and drop Edgar off at his hotel ‘round three/four. After that, it’s over to Quizno’s for me and Jen, and Wendy’s for the accompanying mutts. I get back to the house and Jen and I dig into our Quizno’s and beers. Mewes pops up and says that Paul Walker (through whose production company Bottoms Up is being made) can’t break away from wherever he’s currently shooting a movie to do his cameo on Bottoms. Mewes wants to know if I’ll do it instead. The (brief) role is Mewes’s home-town friend. I tell him that even though it’s gonna be the biggest acting stretch of my life, I’ll do it. Mewes takes off to play some online poker.


With Harley chilling with her friend Hans, Jen and I are free to grab some buzz-fucking time. We spend about an hour doing the nasty, and emerge from our room to take Harley to Astro Burger for some light dinner.


We take out, rather than eat in (a brief point of contention between me and Jen over that), and head home again. It’s time for Harley to go to bed, on our couch once again. While Jen and Harley read some training books together, I download some classical music to play the kid to sleep with. We kiss Quinnster g’night and head upstairs. Oddly enough, the do-we-stay-or-do-we-go argument from Astro-Burger has followed us home, so we spat about it some more, and I opt to head downstairs to catalogue some mp3s. Jen sends me an email to get over it and come upstairs, so go upstairs I do to make up.


We opt for some Scanners while we go through our email. Jen’s still putting together the pieces of the poetry event, and I’m still getting through posts on the board. About fourty-five minutes into Scanners, we decide to call it a night, and head back downstairs to some TiVo’ed Simpsons and sleep.


Sunday 10 April 2005 @ 12:01 p.m.


With the black out curtains drawn, the mutts are once again fooled into sleeping ‘til 7:30. When they start stalking the bed, I get up and let ’em out, take a leak, and head back down to the bedroom office to plant myself in front of the computer.


Quinnster wakes up, and we opt to hit Jerry’s (famous deli) for breakfast. On the way there, we play ‘Sloop John B’ over and over.


Post-Jerry’s, we pick up an iced latte and a Quizno’s veggie & cheese sub for Jen. The subject turns to tattoos and the ‘Harley’s’ tattoo I’ve long promised I was gonna get for my right forearm to compliment the ‘Jenny’s’ tattoo on my left forearm. I try to explain the process of getting a tattoo to Harley, and decide that showing her would probably be better. So we cruise Sunset, peeping out tattoo parlors — none of which are open before noon. Thwarted, we head back to the house, taking bets as to whether Jen’s awake or not.


We get home at ten to noon and Jen is, indeed, awake. She’s been shifting plants around the deck and library balcony for the last hour. I make with the sub and iced latte, and for a few minutes, I’m a true hero.


I take a shower, and decide that perhaps today is the day to get my daughter’s name inked on my body. So I google Sunset Strip Tattoo, give ’em a shout to see if I need an appointment (I don’t) and inform the ladies that I’m gonna get inked and read Catch & Release while I’m there. Jen says she’ll bring Harley by in a half hour to check out the process.


At the tattoo parlor, I show the guy my ‘Jenny’s’ tattoo and he looks for the exact font in his books. He preps ‘Harley’s’, gets it to the right size, and we’re in business. It’s been four years since I last felt that needle, but it’s a very singular sensation that’s not too tough to take, yet not that comfortable to either.


Jen and Harley drop in about halfway through, and Harley’s transfixed. The whole affair has a naughtiness factor (what with the naked ladies and devils on the walls, and the needle jamming in and out of Dad’s arm) that appeals to the kid’s wild side. I tell her she can come back in twelve years, and Jen takes her out to look for more plants.


Twenty minutes later, Mewes rolls in. He was next door picking up a modem for his cell phone and he saw my truck. He asks me to get ‘Mewesy’s’ right beneath ‘Harley’s’, but I tell him he’ll have to settle for a Jay and Bob tattoo I’m thinking of getting on my calf.


The guy finishes up an excellent job, bandages my arm, and sends me on my way. As I’m leaving, I spy Mewes still in the Sprint Store. I pop in to see him (and his friend Molly), and then we sit outside the store, chit-chatting for a bit. Turns out I might have to head over to their set tonight to be in the closing shot of the flick. I tell him to let me know, and head home.


When I get there, Jen and Harley are chowing down on some Baja Fresh. I’ve gotta pick up some lotion for the tat, so I take Harley for a ride to Rite Aid and Wendy’s (for some protein for me).


We get home and opt for a family game. So it’s Disney Yahtzee in Quinnster’s room. She wins (fuck...) and Jen gives her a bath while I go back to Catch & Release — a script I really wind up digging (it’s about getting over grief, so it’s appealing to the guy who made Jersey Girl on a couple different levels).


We put the Quinnster down for bed and rock the classical music. She wants to see my tattoo, but it’s too early to take the bandage off, so she’s gotta wait ‘til morning. We kiss her g’night and head upstairs.


Jen’s tearing apart the living room, trying to figure out where to stick the 100 people coming for the Poetry Event. The room fits more than that (party style), but this is a seated affair, so it’s gonna take a well-organized layout. Mewes calls, and I am gonna be needed for the shot tonight. I call Phil to let him know I’m going, and he calls the producer to get some deal points straight before I head over.


I don’t have to be there until 11:00 p.m., so I head back downstairs, draw the curtains on the boudoir portion of the master bedroom suite (so as not to wake Harley on our couch), and finish up Catch & Release, which turns out to be the kinda flick I’d see theatrically. The Sam part is pretty huge, though, so I’m a little nervous about jumping aboard, as I’m gonna be completely out of my depth.


I throw on some clothes (jeans, dress shirt, tie, and cold weather jacket) for the exterior night scene that’s supposed to be set in Minnesota but is really being shot down near Westwood. I kiss Jen goodbye/goodnight and head off.


Thanks to a cell assist from Mewes, I find base camp and get shown to a trailer. The costume lady signs off on my outfit and I get put through ‘the works’ (makeup and hair). In the trailer, I meet David Keith, and remind him that this is our second movie together, though apart (we were both in Daredevil as well). Done with the vanities, I get shuttled off to set, where I meet the director. He walks me through what I’m doing (getting out of a limo at a première of sorts), meet my co-stars in the shot, and we’re off and running. Two takes later, I’m done. Mewes’s buddy Milo and his lady Christina drive me and Mewes back to base camp. We chit-chat for a bit, and then I head home.


It’s 1:30 a.m., so Jen and Harley are out cold. I throw on the woobs (the lounge wear), and climb into bed beside Jenny, falling asleep to some TiVo’ed Simpsons.


Monday 11 April 2005 @ 11:50 a.m.


The kid tries to wake us up at 7:30, but it’s just not gonna happen. Jen tells her to lie down again, and I don’t know about Harley, but I take Jen’s advice.


When I wake up again, it’s a little past nine. I fly out of bed because I’m supposed to take Quinnster to school, but Jen puts the brakes on. She’s sitting in the kitchen checking email and drinking coffee, informing me that she’s already taken Harley to school. I shuffle off to take the morning leak/shit.


We opt for some Griddle breakfast, over which we discuss my Catch & Release meeting later today, as well as the Poetry Event later in the week. When we’re done, we pop in to the pharmacy to drop off a prescription, then head home.


I hit the computer and update the diary while Jen continues planning the Poetry Event. Then, Jen runs lines with me. I don’t know whether I’m expected to read at the meeting today, but I figure I’ll be prepared. I try my three scenes a variety of ways, committing all the dialogue to memory, and soliciting Jen’s take on each performance. After we run the scenes into the ground, I head off and take a shower.


Post-shower, I’m a little nervous about the meeting, so Schwalbach offers some tension relief in the way of a blowjob. But Jen never lasts too long in the oral department, as it gets her all wound up for sex, so a blowjob quickly turns into a champion fucking. We lounge a bit afterwards until I’ve gotta get dressed and leave for the meeting.


Gail (who’s still up in Mammoth with the birthday-skiing Byron) has left directions to Fresh Paint, Jenno’s production company. I fail to look at said directions, and wind up at what was formerly the Tall Trees offices — Jenno and the director Betty Thomas’s old production company, located a few blocks from my house. Just as I’m about to head in, I look at the Mapquest Gail provided and realize Fresh Paint is all the way over in Santa Monica. I call Fresh Paint, let ’em know I’m a total jackass, and that I’ll be twenty minutes late.


I rocket down La Brea to the 10 West and do the freeway dash to Santa Monica. I get off at the 4th/5th Street exit and find the 2nd Street address for Fresh Paint.


I head in and find Jenno, who gives me a big hug and introduces me to Susanah Grant and casting director Deb Aquila (who’s cast, amongst zillions of other flicks, The Shawshank Redemption). We chit-chat for about forty-five seconds before the three ladies lead me upstairs for what I assume is a meet-and-greet in Jenno’s office.


Low and behold, it’s not a meet-and-greet: it’s a flat-out audition. I get into Jenno’s office, and there’s a video camera and a hot-seat chair that the camera’s pointed at. A fourth chick is there to run camera, and I pretty quickly process that I’m gonna be immediately put on tape. So with little ado, I find myself on an end of a casting camera I am wholly unused to. Rather than sink, I dive in and swim.


There are three scenes I’m doing (and right about now, I’m really happy I’m off book on ’em). The first one is pure wise-assery, so I fly through it. When I finish, I move on to the next scene. At second scene’s end, Susanah gives me a little direction, and I try the scene again, hoping to Christ I offer any difference in my performance. In my head, I’m thinking “It’s cool — you’ve been in auditions before. Asking an actor to do another reading doesn’t mean they’re not doing well.” I get the nod on scene two, and head into scene three — the weightiest of them all. At scene’s end, Susanah offers more direction, so I try the scene again. When I finish, Susanah offers more direction. In the split second between her counsel and my third take, this is my inner monologue...


The little voice in my head wrote:


“You blew it. You have zero instinct for material you don’t write yourself (and very little instinct for your own shit, at that). You’re about to be rejected by not just one woman, but three women, as well as the chick running the camera you’re fucking up royally on. What are you even doing here, Jerk-Stain? You’re not an actor — you’re just a guy who bugs his eyes out when another guy says ‘snoogans’ in some very small movies nobody’s ever heard of. You soared too close to the sun on wings of wax, asshole, and now you’re gonna plummet back to Earth. But don’t panic. Don’t let ’em see you sweat. Wait, who’re you kidding? They can see your fat-ass sweat from space. Just hold it together long enough to get out of this office with a sliver of dignity intact. You’ve been rejected by plenty of chicks, so this should be easy for you.”


I do the scene for the third time. When I’m done, the ladies and I chit-chat about An Evening With Kevin Smith (the flick which is largely responsible for my being in that room in the first place) and An Evening With 2: Evening Harder. I’m getting no read from the Women in Film beyond the Arrested Development-like “I’ve made a huge mistake...” expressions behind their smiles. All are kind enough to not mention the pooching of the part I just fumbled so massively, but I can feel it in the air. I’ve not only wasted their time and momentarily filled them with a false hope that I ultimately (and resoundingly) didn’t fulfill, now I’m wasting even more of the time they’re gonna need to go out and find their Sam by sitting here talking about my dopey Q&As. I do the only sensible thing I’ve done since I arrived by collecting my shades, sides, and scraps of pride, and bidding those standing in judgment of my feeble ‘performance’ adieu.


A block away from Fresh Paint, I call Jen to lament about my colossal failure. She’s at home in a meeting with Cookie about the food for the Poetry Event, but takes the time to listen to my sad tale of woe and responds by telling me I’m overreacting. “But you weren’t in the room like I just was,” I counter. “Trust me — I laid a big, fat egg.” I get a call waiting signal and put Jen on hold to answer it. It’s my agent, Phil, who wants to know how it went. I tell him “Badly...” and switch back to Jen to tell her I’m gonna debrief Phil. She tells me she loves me and that she’ll see me when I get home, kiss it (whatever “it” is), and make it all better.


I switch back to Phil and fill in Phil with all the deets: I went to the wrong office, so I was half an hour late, and then I blew the audition I didn’t know I was gonna have. Phil says: “Jenno just called.” I ask what she said, and Phil says, “They’re gonna talk about it and get back to us,” which is code for “Don’t call us, we’ll call you”. I’m like, “I knew it. When I was on the third take of the big scene, I...”


Suddenly, I’m reminded of an April Fool’s joke from four or five years ago, when I called Phil and fired him, insisting he didn’t “get” me, and that I was going back to CAA. It was a call that went on for fifteen minutes before I hit him with “April Fool”. I’m reminded of this in the split second after Phil reveals, “Jenno says you nailed it. You got the part.”


For the first time in, Christ, I don’t know how long, I scream. “WHAT?! YOU’RE FUCKING SHITTING ME!” No, Phil tells me, there’s no shitting involved: Susanah, Jenno and Deb were unanimous. They’d just called him right before he called me: essentially three minutes after I left their office. I’m the guy, they said. Inexplicably, the word “sexy” was used. Phil says they’ve still gotta make the deal (the money stuff), but the part’s officially mine.


I can’t tell you how unaccustomed to being “chosen” I am at this point in my career. I never have moments like this, because every script I’ve written to direct myself that I’ve turned in since Clerks has been greenlit, not selected. Granted, it’s validation; but it’s not the kind of validation you feel when someone says “I want you”. This was up there with Schwalbach letting me into her body seven years back; not as physically gratifying of course, but up there nonetheless. For ten years, I’ve been the guy telling actors and actresses “I want you”, and now, all the sudden, this person I have no connection to and have only met less than an hour before feels that a character she wrote without me in mind is me. It was one of the top ten best and most surprising moments of my life.


Jen can sense it too, when I immediately call her as I flip a bitch on Santa Monica Blvd to head back to Fresh Paint so I can bear hug those broads. She says, “It’s so nice to hear you excited about this. That’s rare.” And she doesn’t mean that I don’t get excited about my own flicks, because Lord knows I do. But the process of making a flick is so long and drawn out over time — starting with the writing and ending with the home video release — that there’s rarely the rush I’m feeling right now, being tapped to act in someone else’s flick. I’ve never thought of myself as an actor, but the director of a thirty-million-dollar flick disagrees with me to the point that she’s done the unthinkable and cast me as a character who actually speaks. Jen’s ecstatic, and I tell her I’m gonna be home right after I hit the Stash.


I get back to Fresh Paint, head inside, and find Jenno on the couch, smiling widely. “You realize you’ve just doomed your picture?” I tell her right before I practically squeeze the life out of her in a celebratory bear hug. Sadly, Susanah and Deb are gone, so Jenno becomes the focus of all my affection. We talk about what was said when I left, and how they were all psyched by my audition — so much so that moments after I left, they called the studio, then Phil. I’m flabbergasted, and I keep waiting for Ashton Kutcher to pop out.


We talk about the schedule a bit and when she’s heading up to Vancouver. Turns out Chris Moore (her man) is going as well, and he’s gonna play Mr. Mom to their two kids during the shoot before he heads off to direct the Race with the Devil remake (a flick I’ve always loved). Jenno says I should call C-Moo, as he was the guy who suggested me in the first place, and I tell her I’m already on it.


I head over to the Stash to drop off two boxes of signed Jersey Girl DVDs. En route, I call Mos to let him know how it went and talk about the Clerks 2 push, which is now looking more and more likely — as long as the financials on Catch & Release work out.


I drop off the DVDs with Albert who tells me that John’s in the back. I head back and talk to John about the email he sent to me and Chappy last night, letting us know he’s gonna be stepping down as Stash manager to get back to pursuing his acting career. I tell him it’s probably the one reason for leaving I could never argue against, and let him know he’ll be missed. I sign a bunch of Clerks/Amy books and some figures and head home. On the way, I drop C-Moo a call to thank him for starting the Catch ball rolling.


At home, I’m greeted by a round of applause from Jen, Harley, Cookie and Chay. Hugs all around, and I join the girls in what’s gone from their meeting about the Poetry Event to a celebration of sorts. I call Mos down at the office and tell him to come up and join us as we suck back some beers and eat some barbecue.


Byron and Gail get home from Mammoth and take Harley to Bristol Farms to grab some filet mignon and burgers to grill up.


Mos arrives, and we get the party in full swing. All sitting around drinking and bullshitting while eighties tunes rock out from the iPod docked in the Bose speaker.


Byron, God bless him, does the grilling duties, and we all chow down. Mewes shows up later in the evening, and shortly after that, Mos and Cookie head home to let their dog Wolfie out. Mewes, too, heads off for another night’s shooting on Bottoms Up, and while Byron puts Harley to bed, me, Jen, Chay and Gail sit around the bar, chit-chatting. It’s about 10:30 when I’m ready to call it a night, buzzed not only from the brewskis, but also being cast. Jen and I head downstairs, get into our pjs, and curl up and fall asleep to some TiVo’ed Simpsons.


Tuesday 12 April 2005 @ 11:51 a.m.


I wake up at four, take a few Advil, down some water, and head to the computer to check email and read the board. About an hour later, Jen stirs and tells me to come back to bed. I do, and we cuddle up, falling asleep.


Somehow, I sleep ‘til nine again. I intercom up to the kitchen to see if Jen’s there and head upstairs to find her on her laptop, working on the Poetry Event and drinking coffee. We go over her concerns about the event, and then opt for some Griddle. We get dressed and head out.


Post-Griddle, Jen and I head over to the Valley to Linens and Things to grab some wine glasses. Next door, there’s a Kaybee trumpeting the new Star Wars toys, so I head in to see what’s what. I pick up a new Darth Vader figure (the first Star Wars figure I’ve bought since ‘97), a beanie Clone Trooper, and this Tiger plug-in-and-play Light Saber video game. On the way out of the store, I run into Jeff our computer guy and meet his wife.


Jen and I load the glasses and whatnot into the truck and head over to a nursery on Riverside. She buys a bunch of flowers to plant while I talk to Raskind on the cell about how the Catch deal’s going. As we check out, I buy a carton of lady-bugs (1500 per box!) to release in our yard. We head out and load the plants into the truck, and I meet a fella named Spencer who was at Vulgarthon and who posts on the board.


We get home and Smalls unloads the car. I head upstairs and check email and IM with some folks. Jen heads out again, this time to Target for napkins and shit.


Steve comes over to check on the back speakers upstairs. He swaps out the front channel speaker as well, which sounds great. Jon Gordon calls, and him and I talk about Miramax and stuff. Jen gets home and tells me to get off the phone so I can shower and head over to Le Meridien for the Dinner for Five taping, which I do.


I get to Le Meridien and meet up with Peter, Lisa, and Favs, and we go over the seating set-up. Favs and I tape some spots for IFC to hype the show, and guests start arriving. I head to the green room to say hi to Jason Lee, JJ Abrams, Stan Lee and Mark Hamill. We chit-chat for a bit, then head into the Fiesta restaurant to tape the show (which is the same location I shot the Jersey Girl cast episode of Dinner for Five at).


The show goes great (and long). After which, Pete and Favs do a postmortem, I talk to Mark and his wife Marylou for a bit, say goodbye to Lee and JJ (the amazing Stan took off while I was taking a leak), and head home.


Jen calls me to ask if I could pick up a watermelon for Harley’s class project (they’re studying seeds), so I swing by Bristol to do so.


I get home around 11:00 p.m. just in time to watch some Simpsons and fall asleep next to Jen.


Wednesday 13 April 2005 @ 11:52 a.m.


Harley has a nightmare, and climbs into our bed, waking me up. I can’t fall back asleep, so I get up and head to the computer. It’s 4 a.m.


Around 4:30, I get up to take a leak and notice Harley’s back on the couch, sleeping soundly. Nice move, kid: wake me up in my bed then flutter back to sleep in yours shortly thereafter. Thanks.


The dogs get up around seven and look at me like “What’re you doing awake this early, asshole?” I let ’em out and get back behind the computer.


I run into John Sloss, my lawyer, on iChat. He wants to talk about the Catch & Release deal, so I head upstairs to call him (so as not to wake up the sleeping Jen and Harley). We wind up talking for an hour about a wide array of topics. When we’re done, I shuffle by the kitchen to discover Mewes, sitting at the table, smoking and playing online poker. I play over his shoulder for a few minutes until I hear the front door signal, which alerts me that Harley’s on her way out with Byron. I poke my head out the third floor window and yell goodbye to her down below.


Jen joins us and starts mixing up some coffee. Mewes, who’s been shooting nights and has just gotten home, is debating whether or not to go over to a girl’s apartment or crash in his own room. His libido gets the better of him, and he heads off. I follow Jenny downstairs and get back behind my computer.


I iChat with my Mom for a while and tell her about the Catch stuff while answering email and then head off to take a shower.


Mewes comes back from the girl’s house, and Jen, Jay and I opt for some Griddle breakfast. Jen takes her own car, so she can then head on to the mall afterwards and I can head over to Burbank for a Star Wars interview for a British documentary.


At the Griddle, we run into Bryan Johnson, Brian Lynch, Bryan Strang, Matt Kawczynski (Charlie, from Big Helium Dog), and Degrassi head writer Aaron Martin (who’s in town for some meetings). The Griddle folks give our party posse the back room, and we order, eat and joke around for the next hour, until Mewes wraps it all up because he’s exhausted and still hasn’t slept.


Jen heads out to the mall and I bring sleepy Mewes back the house. Since I’m already late for the Star Wars doc thing, I ask Gail to call them to see if I can head over later. It’s about 12:30pm.


I lay down to watch some TiVo’ed Daily Shows and check email and promptly fall asleep for three hours.


Jen gets home from the mall and wakes me up, reminding me that I’ve got the CNN “Showbiz Tonight” thing to do. I take a leak, get dressed, and head over to CNN.


At CNN, I chit-chat with the makeup lady Necca and the camera guy Patrick as well as Jeremy, who I believe is the west coast segment producer. Then, I head into the tiny room with the backdrop, camera and chair, and Patrick shoots me out, live to New York, where Showbiz Tonight is shot. They ask me to stick around for the Ryan Reynolds segment, so Patrick and I watch the show, ‘MST3K’-style, until Ryan comes on.


I head home, and tell the wife that I got off a “golden showers” reference on CNN. She’s not impressed. I climb into lounge-wear and we head upstairs for some chicken breast Byron’s grilled for dinner. Afterwards, Harley and I retire to the living room and set up the Star Wars lightsaber fighting game I picked up the other day. It takes about fifteen minutes longer than it should, because all these plug-in-and-play games have their battery compartments screwed shut nowadays. The game’s pretty bad-assed, though, and we get up to stage three before it’s time for Harley to go to bed. She’s bunking down with Nan and Pop tonight, so Jenny and I are free to... watch TiVo’ed Law & Order eps.


But not before I hit the board again. I’m in my office, checking emails and posts when Bryan calls to see if I wanna swing by Mewes’s set with him, as they’re shooting pretty close to where I live. I opt out.


After about two hours of Law & Orders, the phone rings. It’s Bryan, who tells me his harrowing (yet kinda funny) story about being car-jacked and kidnapped at gun-point right outside Mewes’s set. The jackers ran up to his car, gun trained on Bry, and demanded his wheels. Bry, of course, told them to take it, but the jackers told him to get in the back seat, as he was coming with them. They got on the 101 (from Highland), and asked Bryan where an ATM machine was. Bryan had them get off at Alvarado, where one of the jackers took Big’s ATM card and got money out of his account while the other stayed behind with him in the car, pointing a gun at my boy and telling him “This isn’t personal. We don’t wanna hurt you. Once we get the money, we’re gonna drop you off and keep your car. But if you try anything, I’m gonna shoot the shit out of you.” The other jacker got back in the car and wanted to hit another ATM, and at this point, Bryan gets out of the car, bewildering his captors, insisting they’ve gotten their money, so he’s done. He said he ran across the street to a liquor store and called the cops (and Mos, who picked him up). I’m so flabbergasted, I have to have him repeat the story. I thank Christ he didn’t get hurt and add that I’m suddenly really glad I didn’t go with him.


Around eleven, with visions of moving to another, safer city dancing in my head, Jen and I fall asleep to TiVo’ed L&Os.


Thursday 14 April 2005 @ 11:52 a.m.


I wake up around 7:30 to let the dogs out, take a leak, and hit the computer.


While I’m wading through email and posts on the board, Byron calls up to the room to ask if I can pick him up at the Range Rover dealership where he’ll be dropping off Jenny’s car for a checkup. I confirm.


I hear the front door beep at 8:15, which means Harley’s heading to school. I head out onto my porch to tell her goodbye, and Byron tells me he’ll give me a shout from the Range Rover place with an exact address.


I check some more email when the call comes in twenty minutes later. I get dressed, take a coffee order from the couch-riding/Poetry-Event-fretting Jen, kiss her forehead, and make for the front door, closely followed by Scully.


Scully takes the ride as I go to pick up Byron at the Range Rover service place. On the way home, we stop at Carl’s Jr. for some burgers for the dogs and a Low Carb Breakfast Bowl for me. Following that, we hit Starbucks for an iced latte for Jen, and Chi Lattes for Byron and Gail.


I deliver Jen’s latte and she gets ready for a hair appointment and some other errands. She takes my car (as her car’s being serviced) and heads off.


I hold down some iChats with my Mom, my brother, Chappy (my Stash West partner), Nicole (from Degrassi), and Ming. We take the tickets for the Mallrats public screening, and Scott IMs to remind me we’ve got a lunch date.


I shower and get a ride down to the office, where Scott and I watch some Mallrats re-edit he’s been working on, and then head over to The Palm for some lunch steak.


After lunch, we stop over at Laser Blazer and pick up the new DVDs. Afterwards, we cruise back to the office and continue the Rats edit ‘til six, when Mosier has to head out. He gives me a ride home, and I find Jenny in the bathroom, getting ready for her 6:30 Poetry Event meeting with Daniella and Russell Milton.


I head to the bathroom, then sack out on the bed and go over posts on the board while watching some TiVo’ed Daily Shows.


Around nine-ish, I head upstairs to pop in on the Poetry Event meeting. We talk about the possibility of making a few seats available to board members in the LA area, and go over the order of the readers for a bit before Jen heads downstairs to put Harley to sleep on our couch. I walk Daniella and Russell out, close up shop upstairs, and join Jen in bed. We watch TiVo’ed Simpsons ‘til we fall asleep.


Friday 15 April 2005 @ 11:53 a.m.


I wake up at Jen’s behest. She’s telling me to let the dogs out. It’s nearly seven.


I take a leak and hit the computer to update the online diary. Byron intercoms around 7:30 to wake Harley up. I wish him a happy birthday.


I open the curtains as Jen climbs out of bed to gently wake Quinnster. She takes her downstairs to get ready for school, and I go back to the computer.


I hear the front door, so I go out onto my office deck to say goodbye to Harley. When I go back inside, Jen and I start talking about the Poetry Event some more before she has Byron and I moving the blackjack table and sundry other pieces of furniture down to the library to clear up space in the living room.


I do something in the morning that I now can’t remember (it’ll come back to me), but I know I was doing something, because I remember getting home and the dogs being gone, picked up for doggie camp for the weekend.


Jen and I bicker a bit before she heads out to her mani-pedi-facial appointments at Burke Williams. We go back-and-forth about whether to take Byron out for lunch or just barbecue at the house before he heads for Big Bead midday. Jen finally decides we’re gonna barbecue, and says she’ll pick up some steaks from Bristol on her way home from her appointments, but before she picks up Harley, who’s getting out of school early for a half-day. We bicker some more, and Jen’s off.


The hundred or so folding chairs are delivered, and Gail calls up to ask me if Jen wanted white chairs or not. I tell her I’m not sure and call Jen at Burke Williams, because I don’t wanna let chair one into the house if she didn’t pick white chairs. After a few minutes, they track her down and I ask her about the chairs. She sounds frazzled, and says she thought it was some kind of emergency that they dragged her out of her pedi over. I counter with it’d be an emergency if she came home and found a hundred chairs she didn’t order sitting in our living room. She signs off on the white chairs, so the white chairs start coming in.


When Jen gets home, we bicker some more (this time over the Burke Williams emergency phone call), and I head upstairs and fire up the grill. Gail’s made Byron a birthday cake shaped like a pair of skis, so that’s our steak follow-up. We sit down to the earliest family dinner on record and do the cake and candles thing afterwards.


We say goodbye as Byron loads Harley and Louis into his truck, headed up to Byron and Gail’s Big Bear cabin for the weekend, skipping the Poetry Event altogether.


Jen and I hang around the house for the rest of the day, getting the living room in shape and moving stuff around. After much discussion about opening the event to some LA board folks, I throw a message up on the board about five tickets up for grabs, requesting some info from each applicant.


While I’m working on the board, Jen’s holding a marg-tasting meeting upstairs with Chay, Bryan Johnson, Darrin Johnson and Brian Quinn, the Issacs for the Poetry Event (when they pour, they reign). Brian Lynch also comes by, and I head upstairs to join the boys in the kitchen while Chay and Jen chill in the living room. The men grill Bry about his carjacking, and we make copious jokes about all the head Bryan could’ve given to get out of it. A good time, as they say, is had by all.


The boys leave and, with Harley in Gail’s room for the night, Jen and I bone hardcore and fall asleep to some Simpsons.


Saturday 16 April 2005 @ 11:53 a.m.


Poetry Event Day. The dogs wake me up around eight-ish. I let ’em out, then hear Jen rustle and rise as well. With the whole house in pre-event mode, we skip breakfast.


I run into Mewes in the kitchen, where he’s smoking and playing some online poker at UltimateBet.com — his new favorite pastime. I watch for a bit before heading back downstairs to my office to check email and deal with the board folks who’re interested in attending the Poetry Event.


Cookie and Catherine McCord arrive early to start preparing the food. Jen asks Mewes and I to move a table from the foyer up to the deck, so we do so. Upstairs, I find Cookie and Catherine knee-deep in food prep and Jen setting up the outdoor martini bar. We all take a break and sit around on the deck, where I grill Catherine about her fiancé, Jon Gordon, our Miramax homeboy. Mewes is sitting with us, but he’s rocking UB on his laptop, somehow managing to make out the screen despite the massive sunlight beating down that makes it almost unreadable.


Mewes joins me in my office with his laptop, still in the thrall of UltimateBet. After months of seeing him play and hearing all about the heady wins and bad beats, I ask if I can give it a shot. He lets me play on his laptop for a bit, and I’m instantly hooked. I give him back his laptop and jump online on my desk-top, hell-bent on buying a downloadable version of Virtual PC for Mac (UB isn’t a Mac-friendly site) so that I, too, can become part of the poker action. Problem is, I can’t find anyone selling it for instant download. My only option is to head over to the Mac Store, but I dare not attempt it, lest Jen rip my head off for trying to do something other than getting ready for the Poetry Event. I IM Matt Potter who’s got Virtual PC on the G4 desk-top I bought him last year in exchange for editing the Tea Party doc, so he uploads a copy to our server site.


While it’s downloading, I’m playing at the site on Mewes’s laptop. Jen comes in to the office to tell me it’s time to get showered and ready for the Poetry Event. After two warnings, I do so, and air-dry at the desk-top while I pull together some notes for each speaker’s intro, as well as some opening remarks.


From about six o’clock on, as I hit and re-hit the IMDB for my intro material, the door phone’s ringing like crazy and I’m buzzing people up left and right. I finally head upstairs to give Jen the cordless phone so she can be on door duty. While there, I see Bryan Johnson, his brother Darren, and Brian Quinn — all of whom Jen’s recruited to work the bar at the event. Zak and Joey and their friend John are also in the house, handling the door and the crowd.
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